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HALF-YEARLY FINANCIAL REPORT

COMPANY OVERVIEW
GENERAL

CEIBAInvestments Limited (“CEIBA” or the “Company”) is a Guernsey-incorporated, closed-ended investment
company, with registered number 30083. Its shares were listed (the “Listing”) on the Specialist Fund Segment
(“SFS”) of the London Stock Exchange’s Main Market on 22 October 2018, where it currently trades under the
symbol CBA. The Company is governed by a Board of Directors, the majority of whom areindependent. Like many
other investment companies, it outsources i ts investment management, administration and other services to third
party providers. The Companydoes not have a fixed life. Throughits consolidated subsidiaries (together with the
Company, the “Group”), the Companyinvests in Cuban real estate and otherassets by acquiring shares in Cuban
jointventure companies that own the underlying properties. The Companyalsoarranges andinvests in financial
instruments granted in favour of Cuban borrowers.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS AS AT 30 JUNE 2020 IN £ AND USS$ (FOREX: £/US$ = 1.2359)

Giventhefactthatthe Net AssetValue (“NAV”) and share price of the Company are quoted in Sterling (£) and that
the functional currencyof the Company is the US Dollar (USS), the financial highlights of the Company set out
below are provided in both currencies, applying the applicable exchange rate as at 30 June 20 20.

In£
Total Net Assets NAV per share * Number of shares in issue
£143.6m (31 December 2019: 104.3p (31 December 2019: 114.5p) | 137,671,576 Ordinary Shares
£157.7m) 106.3p” (31 December2019: (31 December 2019:137,671,576
£146.3m*(31 December 2019: 116.6p)* Ordinary Shares)
£160.6m)>
Market Capitalisation Share price Net Loss to shareholders
£88.8m (31December2019: 64.5p (31 December 2019:71.0p) £ (23.8m) (30 June 2019: £(4.1m))
£97.7m) £ (24.2m)*(30June 2019: £(4.4m))
Loss per share NAV Total Return® Discount to NAV
(17.3)p (30 June 2019: (2.9p)) (8.9%) (30 June 2019: (2.5%)) (38.2%) (31 December 2019:
(17.6)p? (30June 2019: (3.2p) ?) (8.9%)* (30 June 2019: (2.7%)>°) (38.0%))
(40.0%)’ (31 December 2019:
(39.1%)%)




In USS

Total Net Assets

US$177.5m (31 December 2019:

US$206.7m)

US$180.8m*(31 December2019:

US$210.6m)*

NAV per share*

US$1.29 (31 December2019:
US$1.50)

US$1.31% (31 December2019:
US$1.53)2

Number of sharesin issue

137,671,576 Ordinary Shares
(31 December 2019:137,671,576
Ordinary Shares)

Market Capitalisation

US$109.7m (31 December 2019:

Share price

US$0.80 (31 December2019:

Net Loss to shareholders

(US$29.5m) (30 June 2019:

US$128.2m) US$0.93) USS$(5.1m))
(US$29.9m)? (30 June 2019:
US$(5.6m)?)

Loss per share NAV Total Return™> Discount to NAV"

(US$0.21) (30 June 2019: US$(0.04)) | (14.1%) (30 June 2019: (2.7%))
(US$0.22)*(30June 2019: (14.1%) (30 June 2019: (2.9%)?)
US$(0.04)%)

(38.2%) (31 December 2019:
(38.0%))

(40.0%)* (31 December 2019:
(39.1%)%)

1 Theseareconsidered Alternative Performance Measures.

2 Thesefigures differ from the figures derived from the audited Consolidated Financial Statements. Thefigures are
calculated infull accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), except that they include the
effect of an adjustment recognising the full amount of US$5.0m / £3.9m received from Aberdeen Standard Fund
Managers Limited on 23 November 2018in connectionwith the execution of the Management Agreement in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income for theyear ended 31 December 2018, rather than deferring this amount
over the five-year term of the Management Agreement as required by IFRS. This adjustment resulted in the
increase of the netincome attributable to the shareholders of the Company for theyear ended 31 December2018
by US$5.0m / £3.9m and decreases the net income attributable to the shareholders of the Company by the
amountof US$1.0m/ £0.81m per year overthefive year term of the Management Agreement. Consequently, for
the six months ended 30June 2020the adjustmentresulted in a decrease in the netincome attributable to the
shareholders of the Company in the amount of US$0.5m / £0.4m.

3 The comparative 30 June 2019 NAV Total Return figures have been restated fromthe prioryeardue to a change
inthe methodology of theircalculation. In June 2019, the calculations accounted for the reinvestment of the
dividend attheyear end, not when the dividends went ex-dividend. To bein line with industry practice, the figures
abovehavebeen calculated on the basis that dividends declaredduring the period arereinvested on the day that
the shares traded ex-dividend.

MANAGEMENT

The Company has appointed Aberdeen Standard Fund Managers Limited (“ASFML”or the “AIFM”) as the
Company’s alternative investment fund manager to provide portfolio and risk management services to the
Company. The AIFM has delegated Portfolio management of the portfolio to Aberdeen Asset Investments Limited
(the “Investment Manager”). Both ASFML and the Investment Manager are wholly-owned subsidiaries of
Standard Life Aberdeen plc, a publicly-quoted company on the London Stock Exchange. Aberdeen Standard
Investments (“ASI”) is a brand of Standard Life Aberdeen plc. Referencesthroughoutthis documentto ASI refer to
both the AIFM and the Investment Manager.




CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

OVERVIEW

At the time of my Chairman’s statementin the 2019 Annual Report, the Company and Cuba had, in effect, just
entered into the Covid-19crisis. Theimplications, which then wereunclear,are now somewhat easier to assess
butthere still remains considerable uncertainty about the duration and long-termimpact of the pandemicand the
expected return to normality. Atpresent, all regularinternational flights to Cuba remain suspended and nearly all
hotels arestill closed, although a gradual reopening of both flights and hotels is expected to take place from
November 2020 onwards. Cuba, which depends to a significant degree upon tourism, has therefore been
particularly badly impacted by the dramatic drop in income from this source, exacerbated by a further
deterioration in the relationship with the Trump administration in the U.S.

Our prime concern has been to protect our peopleanditis notablethat Cuba’s reported number of Covid-19 cases
and mortality rates arerelativelylow. The Investment Manager, the Havana team, the Administrator andall other
service providers have adopted all reasonable measures to protect the safety of the people working to advance
the affairs of the Company.

Results for the six months to30 June 2020

The NAV per Shareat30 June 2020 was US$1.29(104.3p) compared to US$1.50(114.5p)at 31 December 2019 and
the lossinthefirstsixmonths of the financial year was US$0.21(17.3p) compared to a loss of $0.04 (2.9p) for the
sameperiodlastyear. Thevaluation of assets of the Company as well as earnings in respect of the six months
ended 30 June 2020 has clearly been negatively impacted by the Covid-19 pandemic. This was primarily
experienced within the hotel interests where trading, with the exception of the Melia Habana (as described
below), ceased as fromthe end of March. In addition to this, thevaluations of the Hotels have also been written
down by $41.7 million in aggregate, reflecting both the present lack of trading and the uncertain road to full
recovery. The Boardconsiders thatthe substantial reductioninthe hotel valuations is in large measure a direct
resultof the profound but temporarydisruptionto Cuban and international tourism operations caused by the
pandemic, and notwithstanding the uncertain timeline to recovery, we are optimistic that the valuations will
improve onceagain when thesituationis normalised. In addition, the Board believes that other positive factors
may in the months ahead potentially have a strong impact on the present level of volatility in the valuations,
including the possible election of Joe Bidenin the Presidential elections in the United States in November of this
year as well as the ongoing reform efforts of the Cuban government (more fully described in the Manager’s
Review), which we expect will resultin concreteimprovements to the economic conditions under which our joint
venture companies operate.

Pleasingly, during thefirst six months of 2020, the Company’s largest asset - the Miramar Trade Centre, in which it
holdsa 49% interest — operated at almost full occupancy levels, with income and net profits ahead of those
achievedduringthesame period lastyear. The valuation of the Company’s participation in the Miramar Trade
Centrefell from US$86,702,576 (£66,119,558) at 31 December 2019to US$81,258,903 (£65,748,771) at 30 June
2020, asaresultof anincreasein thediscountrate duetoinvestment uncertainty created by the pandemic as well
as continued aggressive sanctions against Cuba adopted by the United States, and the application of slightly more
conservative assumptions in the first few years of the discounted cash flow projections. Overall, the outlook for
this asset for theremainder of 2020 remains encouraging although a small drop inincomeis anticipated as a result
of temporary lease reliefs granted to certain tenants. No further decline in occupancy levels is anticipated.

With regard to the hotel interests of the Company, the Melida Habana has remained openthroughout the pandemic
with a skeleton capacity of 30 rooms and one semi-functional restaurant providing take-away meals. All of the
other hotels, whicharelocated inVaradero, were closedatthe end of March andonly one has partially reopened
since then. Melid, the operator of each of the hotels, has recently put forward proposals whereby the Sol
Palmeras hotel and the Melid Habana will continue to operate at very modest occupancy levels until the end of the



year. Itis notanticipated that the other two hotels within Miramar - the Melia Varadero and the Melia las
Americas-will reopen during the present year. Clearly the Manager and the Board are sensitive to plans and
decisions made by Cuba’s tourism authorities and those may result in amending the Company’s plans.

I am pleased to observethat Miramar is well capitalised and is able to continue to operate without recourse to
additional funding and indeed is using the closures to undertake certain cosmetic upgrading of rooms and facilities.

Progress on the construction of the beachfronthotel near Trinidad being undertaken by TosCuba, in which the
Company has a 40% interest, has advanced steadily throughouttheyear and all of the structural works are now
complete. Nevertheless, the projectis behind schedule as aresult of delays in the delivery of imports caused by
the Covid-19 pandemic and other factors. Negotiations to amend theturn-key constructioncontract are ongoing
on the basis of extending the capital expenditure programme andspreading out the disbursement schedule over a
longer timeframe. This would imply that the hotel would begin operations in Q4 2021.

In the light of the present environment the following actions have also been taken by the Board:-

1.The repayment schedule of the credit facilitygranted to Casa Financiera S.A. FINTUR (“FINTUR”), under which
the aggregate present exposure of the Company is€1,716,667, has been renegotiated with a one year grace period
extended to FINTUR, reflectingthefactthat FINTURis receiving almost no income through tourism at present.

2.Ingeneral,anongoing detailed review of all uncommitted capital and other expenditures has been undertaken
with a view to limiting all expenditures that can reasonably be delayed.

3. With suchinherent uncertainty, continuous focus is being maintained upon the future cash requirements of the
Company to meetits existing and future plans. Inthis context, the existing dividend policy has been temporarily
suspended and no dividend will be paid in the current financial year. The policy will be kept under constant
review.

Cuba-Ongoing Economic Reforms

On 16 July 2020, the Cuban government headed by Miguel Diaz-Canel announced a series of promising new
economicreforms aimed atacceleratingthe systematicimplementation of the reform guidelines adopted by the
governmentin 2011 and alleviating the short-term liquidity crisis of the country. The new measures aim to boost
hard currency incomeinthe shortterm by encouraging exports, the local production of food and other necessary
products and the creation of a new internal hard currency market for certain goods and services.

The reforms decrease the government’s administrative control over the economy and promote the development
of an economicsystemin which autonomous actors interact on the basis of management decisions rather than
centralised government controls. They also includethe unification of the two currencies: the Cuban Peso (CUP)
and the Cuban Convertible Peso (CUC), a very important step thatis rumoured to be imminent.

The Board applauds theannouncedreforms and believes that they will stimulate Cuba’s economy, including the
emerging private sector. In addition, we expect full implementation of the reformsto increase the attractiveness
of the country as a market for foreign directinvestment, to improve the autonomy of joint venture companies and
to have a marked positive impact on the investments of the Company.

US-Cuban relations

Unfortunately, the relationship between Cuba andthe Trump administration has continued to deteriorate. Cuba’s
initiatives to send doctors and other medicalstaff to various countries to assistin their battle against the Covid-19
pandemichascomeunder attack by the U.S. administration. In June 2020, the Trump administration further
expanded the Cuba restrictedlist, a public list of Cuban entities with whom US persons are prohibited from doing
business. Thelistnowincludes Fincimex, a Cubanfinancial corporation that handles the majority of US and other



international family remittances to Cuba. Also in June, Marriott, the hotel group, announced that the U.S.
Department of Treasury had refused to extend its licence to operate in Cuba.

The result of theupcoming U.S. presidential elections will naturally be of material significance to U.S.- Cuban
relations. Joe Biden, the Democratic party nominee has been critical of the decision to undothe policies aimed at
rapprochement putin place by the Obama administration. If the Democratic party win the next election itis
reasonableto expect a significant softening of the U.S sanctions against Cuba and a material reversion to the
opening up of tourism and trade as experienced during the Obama years. This should over the longer term
obviously have a very positive impact on the Company’s assets.

The Board extends its sincere thanks to the Investment Manager and to the entire management team based in
Cuba for theircommitmentand efforts on behalf of the Companyin these very challenging and uncertain times.

John Herring
Chairman
28 September 2020

INVESTMENT MANAGER’S REVIEW
PERFORMANCE

Over the six-month period to 30 June 2020, the Company's net asset value (NAV) declined by 14% in US dollar
terms / 9% in sterling terms. The Net Asset Value of the Company as at 30 June 2020 amounted to
USS177,498,536/£143,618,849 (31 December 2019: US$206,734,334 / £157,656,016), of which approximately
77% was indirectly invested in income-generating Cuban commercial and tourism related real estate assets and
14% represented finance facilities and cash. Thetotal dividendincome from the Cuban joint venture companies
duringthesix months ended 30 June 2020 was US$6,884,559 / £5,570,482 (si x months ended 30 June 2019:
USS12,454,918 / £9,829,467).

The loss attributable to the shareholders of the Company for the six months ended 30 June 2020 was
USS$29,453,418/ £23,831,554 (six months ended 30 June 2019: loss of US$5,137,375 / £4,054,435), and NAV per
shareat30June2020was US$1.29 /104.3p (31 December 2019: USS1.50 / 114.5p). The principal factor that
contributed negatively to the results was the decrease in the fair values of both the hotels of Miramar S.A.
(“Miramar”) and the Miramar Trade Centre real estate complex of Inmobiliaria Monte Barreto S.A. (“Monte
Barreto”).

Thesefair values are determined by applying discounted cashflow methodology. Thediscountand capitalisation
rates that were applied by the Company’s independent valuatorinthe discounted cashflow models this year were
increased inorderto reflecttheimpact of the Covid-19 pandemic and the heightened aggression of the renewed
U.S. Cuban embargo under President Trump. In addition, in the case of the hotels of Miramar, the projected
income was adjusted downwardsignificantlyin order to reflect the temporary closure of the hotels at the end of
March 2020 and the estimated timeline for the hotels to return to pre-Covid occupancy levels and room rates. As
well, a modestly more conservative view was takenon the future occupancyrates and projected rental increases
of the Miramar Trade Centre.

Weareconscious of thefactthattheimpact of theincreased discount and capitalisationrates in combination with
the decreased projected incomelevels has resulted in a substantial reductionin the valuations of the hotel assets
andinturnthe Company’s holding values. Given the presentuncertainty regarding the timing and other details
with respectto the reopening of Cuba’s tourism sector, the availability of airlift to Cuba, and general behavioural
patterns concerning the return of worldwide business and holiday travel, the independent RICS valuers who
carried out thevaluations haveissued their desk top valuation reports under the caveat of “material valuation
uncertainty”.



We agree with the assumptions that triggered the pronounced downward valuation in the hotel assets in which
the Company holds an interest and would underline that —in the case of investments in Cuba —the material
valuation uncertainty described above may in the near term and until the situation is stabilised resultin
fluctuations in valuations that are potentiallymore pronounced than inother countries. However, in contrast, we
alsobelieve that potentially positive future events that may eliminate or minimize the impact of the Covid-19
pandemicor the election of Democratic candidate Joe Biden in the November 2020 U.S. presidential el ection could
provoke an equally pronounceddecreaseinthe applicable discountand capitalisationrates, increase in projected
income and corresponding uplift to the fair values resulting therefrom.

Duringthefirst half of 2020, Monte Barreto had its best performance ever for the first sixmonths, with netincome
of US$7.2 million / £5.8 million (six months ended 30 June 2019: US$6.9 million / £5.5 million). However, the
performance of the Melid Habana Hotel and the Varadero Hotels were substantially affected by the Covid-19
pandemic. The netincome of Miramar for the six months ended 30 June 2020was USS$2.2 million / £1.8 million
(six months ended 30 June 2019: USS$10.6 million / £8.3 million), a decline in USS of 79%.

As noted above, theloss on the changeinthefairvalue of the equity investments of US$46,879,952 / £37,931,833
(for theyear ended 30 June2019: loss of US$19,166,144 / £15,125,992) was primarily due to the decrease in the
fair value of Miramar, which was a result of lower roomrates and income levels compared to the prior year. The
decreaseof the Group's shareinthe fairvalue of Miramar, was US$30,471,969/ £24,655,691 (30 June 2019: loss
of US$12,457,994 / £9,831,895).

INTRODUCTION

Inthelnvestment Manager’s Reviewinthe Annual Report of the Company for theyear ended31 December 2019,
we opined thatitwouldbeinevitable that Cubaandthe Company would be affected by the Covid-19 pandemic,
above and beyond the negative impact to the Cuban economy caused by the ongoing U.S. Cuban embargo
regulations.

Although Cuba’s comprehensive response to the Covid-19 pandemic has largely been successful and the number of
reported cases anddeaths resulting from the pandemichave been low, both absolutely and relatively speaking,
there has been a recentresurgence of the number of new cases reported and itis still too early to predict the final
impact. ThefactthatCubabegantoimplementa phasedplanto reopenits economy and tourism sector in July
2020, andthatthefirstinternational tourists began returning to Cubanresorts located on the offshore islands in
September 2020, is encouraging.

We are following developments closely in the U.S presidential race, since thereis a clear differencein the
platforms of the two candidates with respect to Cuba. If Joe Biden were to win the election inNovember 2020and
go on to implement his stated policy towards Cuba, this would imply a rapid discontinuation of President Trump’s
aggressive stance aimed at strengthening the U.S. Cuba embargo and the restoration of the policy of
rapprochementintroduced inthefinal years of the Obama administration. Itisverylikelythatthe Company would
benefit from such a changein policy.

The Miramar Trade Centre office complex, the Company’s most important real estate investment, continued to
perform strongly with occupancy ratesinthe high nineties and income levels similar to those of 2019. On the
other hand, the Covid-19 pandemichad a significant negative impact on the tourisminvestments of the Company,
in particular through the forced temporary closure of three of the four hotels in which the Company has an
interest, with the fourth operating on a minimal level throughout the crisis. However, we continue to expect that
in the end the 2020 year-end EBITDA of the Hotels will still be positive.

Inaddition, we are encouraged by recent announcements concerning important new reforms being adopted by
the Cuban government to stimulate private enterprise on the island, to unify Cuba’s dual currency system and
encouragetheuse of the United States dollarandother hard currencies, to allow all natural and legal persons to



open and operate hardcurrencybank accounts, andto increase the autonomy of Cuban State companies and joint
ventures with respect to their operations and the transferability of hard currency.

THE U.S. CUBAN EMBARGO AND THE NOVEMBER 2020 U.S. PRESIDENTIAL ELECTIONS

As predicted in the Annual Report of the Company fortheyear ended 31 December 2019, the negative impact of
the ongoing efforts of the Trump administration to further tighten U.S. travel restrictions and other important
parts of the U.S. embargo continues to befeltby Cuba in 2020. And against the backdrop of the upcoming U.S.
Presidential el ection and the sustained efforts of the U.S. administration to force Cubato withdrawits support for
Venezuela, thereis little hope that relations will improve inthe coming months. New measures continue to target
the principal Cuban sources of hard currency income: tourism, family remittances, foreign investment and
international (medical) services.

The latestactions taken by the Trump administrationinclude adding the remittance processing company FINCIMEX
and Havana International Bank (HAVIN)to the Cuba Restricted List of entities that U.S. persons are prohibited from
dealing withandsuspending all private charter flights from the U.S. to Cuba, including to Havana. In parallel, the
U.S. is painting Cuba’s foreign medical (COVID-19) brigades in a negative lightas instruments of “modern slavery”
and is encouragingits allies not to contract Cuban doctors and nurses.

With respect to the Helms-Burton Act, the first case to reach judgment (involving the use by Carnival Cruise Lines
of shipping terminals in Santiago de Cuba) was rejected inJuly 2020 on technical grounds. Althoughitis too early
to seeanytrends in this case, itwill set precedentanditis a welcome development that at least in the first case
the courthasadopted anarrow and restrictive interpretation of the controversial rules set outin this highly
disputed extraterritorial legislation.

Like many others in the world, Cuba will be paying close attention to the upcoming presidential election in the
United States. If former Vice President Biden wins in November, this would likely trigger a renewed
rapprochement between the countries and the easing of the U.S.-Cuban embargo rules.

CUBA - ECONOMIC REFORMS AND RECENT DEVELOPMENTS

On 16 July 2020, the Cuban government announced the urgent implementation of a series of new economic
strategies and reform measures aimed at combatting the combined effects on the Cuban economyof the Covid 19
pandemicand therecent tightening of the US embargo. Themain strategies outlined include (i) the increase of
exports, (ii)theincentivisation of national production in order to substitute imports, with a focus on food and
agriculturee, (iii) improved management autonomy at State companies, (iv)the adoption of s everal new measures
aimed atencouraging the private sector of the economy, including the consolidation of cooperatives and the self-
employed and the creation of micro, small and medium sized private companies, (v) the creation of retail and
wholesale marketsin US dollars, and (vi) currency unification. In addition, the government has announced that the
foreign investment sector will benefit from a new monetary framework which is expected to provide more
profound financial autonomy to Cuban joint venture companies.

Many of these measures have been outlined before, in particular inthe2011and 2016 guidelines adopted by the
Cuban Communist Party on modernisation of the Cubaneconomy, butitwouldappearthatthereis now sufficient
impetus to move forward with the implementation of these strategies, given the profound disruptionto the Cuban
economy and liquidity position caused by the Covid-19 pandemic and heightened aggression from the U.S. A
number of implementing measures have already been adopted, although further regulatoryaction will be required
for many of the proposed reforms.

As details emergeregarding the new measures that will affect the foreign investment sector, itis clear thatan
importantgoal is to provide to the management of joint venture companies a far greater degree of autonomy and
control over the liquidity and financial resources of those companies. We believe thatthese measureswill have a



strong positive effect on the operations of the joint venture companies in which the Companyhasaninterest. We
will be closely following developments in this regard.

Notwithstanding the difficult yearthat Cuba has had sofar,a number of new transactions have been announced in
recent months. These include the approval of new joint ventures in the hotel, rum production and mining
(gold/silverandnickel)sectors, the development of a joint Cuba-China biotech park to produce and market Cuban
biotechnologyproductsin Chinaas well asa newjointventure to developand market Cuban medicines in the UK
and Europe, andtheapproval of a 100%foreign capital company that will operate as a non-banking financial
institution.

PORTFOLIO UPDATE
The Miramar Trade Centre / Monte Barreto

The Company isthelargest foreigninvestorin Cuba’s commercial real estate sector through its interestin the
MiramarTrade Centre, Havana’s leading mixed-use office and retail real estate complex. The Company’s 49%
interestin the Miramar Trade Centreis heldthrough Monte Barreto, the Cubanjoint venture company that owns
and operates the complex. The Miramar Trade Centreis a six-building complex comprising approximately 56,000
square metres (approximately 600,000 square feet) of net rentable area that constitutes the core of the new
Miramar business districtin Havana.

Overall, the Miramar Trade Centre hadits most profitable halfyearever in thefirst half of 2020, notwithstanding
thatoccupancy rates fell slightlyfrom 100% to 98 % as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic. Departing tenants were
primarily limited to small travel agencies and othertourism-related companies that ceased operations as a result
of the pandemic. Revenuesand netincomewereup 1% and 4%, respectively, as compared to the same period last
year.

In recentyears, the Miramar Trade Center has effectively maintained a near 100% occupancy rate. The average
monthly rent per square meter rose from US$25.22 in 2018, to US$26.28in2019, to US$26.31 in the first half of
2020. As a result, Monte Barreto continued its strong performance, with an EBITDA of US$9.4 million / £7.6 million
for thefirsthalf of theyear (6 months ended 30 June 2019: US$9.0 million/£7.1 million) and net income after tax
of US$7.2 million / £5.8 million during the period (6 months ended 30 June 2019: USS$6.9 million/ £5.5 million).
The increaseis dueto Monte Barreto continuing to raise rental rates as tenantleases arerenewed. However, itis
anticipated that Monte Barreto will temporarilydelayfurtherincreasesin rental rates pending resolution of the
market uncertainty surrounding the Covid-19 pandemic.

The valuation of Monte Barreto has been adjusted downward by approximately USS5.4 million. The decreased
valueisduetoanincreaseinthediscountrateandtheapplicationof moreconservative assumptions in the first
few years of the discounted cash flow projections due to the uncertainty created by the pandemic.

Demand, predominantly from multi-national companies, NGOs and foreign diplomatic missions for international -
standardofficeaccommodation in Havana currently continues to exceed supply. Monte Barreto remains the
dominantoption in this market segment. As a consequence, and notwithstanding the Covid-19 pandemic, the
outlook for Monte Barreto inthesecond half of 2020 remains encouraging, as we expect occupancy levels to
remain in the high nineties with a gradual return to the 100% level and loss of rental income as a result of
concessions to travel and tourism companies to be modest.

The Hotels of Miramar S.A.

Through itsindirect ownership of a 32.5% interestin Miramar, the Group has interestsin the following hotels (the
“Hotels”):
- the Melida Habana Hotel, a 397-room international-category 5-star business hotel located on prime ocean-
front property in Havana (directly opposite the Miramar Trade Center);



- the Melidlas Americas Hotel, a 340-room international-category 5-star beach resort hotel located in
Varadero;

- the Melia Varadero Hotel, a 490-room international-category 5-star beach resort hotel located in
Varadero; and

- the Sol Palmeras Hotel, a 607-roominternational-category 4-star beach resort hotel located in Varadero.

All of the Hotels are operated by Melia Hotels International S.A. (“Melia Hotels International”), which also has a
17.5% equity interestin Miramar (and a 10% equity interest in TosCuba).

Performance of the Hotels

The Hotels were strongly impacted by the sudden halt of all flights to Cuba andthe closure of nearly all hotels on
theislandin March 2020 as a result of the measures taken by the Cuban government to combat the Covid-19
pandemic.

Duringthefirsttwo months of theyear, all of the Hotels were able to maintain occupancy as compared with the
prior year (occupancyrose 9% at the Melid Habana Hotel as compared to the prior period), although income per
roomfell inall cases, resultingin a decreaseinincome compared withthe corresponding period of the prior year.
Factors affectingroomratesinclude the continued aggressive measures of the Trump administration aimed at
discouraging U.S. travel to Cuba (primarily in the case of the Melid Habana Hotel) and high levels of competition
from other Caribbean tourism destinations prior to the Covid-19 pandemic.

However, normal operations of the Hotel s were interrupted inMarch 2020 with the arrival of the pandemic. The
Melia Habana Hotel inHavana remained open throughout the period from March 2020 to June 2020, although
with very limited operations, catering to flight crews for repatriation flights and the mandatory 14-day isolation of
diplomats and certain other authorised persons arrivingin Havana. Thethree Varadero Hotels ceased operations
inMarch2020andas atthetime of writing, only the Sol Palmeras Hotel has received authorisation to resume
operations. The Sol Palmeras Hotel was opened for national Cuban tourismin early July 2020.

Confirming and Discounting Facility

In early December 2019, HOMASI (the foreign shareholder of Miramar) executed a confirming and discounting
facility with Miramarthathas a maximum limit of US$7 million for the purpose of confirming and discounting
supplier invoices relatingto the operations of the four hotels owned by the joint venture company. The facility is
financed inpartbya€3.5 million credit line received by HOMASI from a Spanish bank for this purpose, thus
alleviating the present cash flow position of the Company. Thefacility has attractive economicterms (finance cost
below 5%), and thefacility is secured by the external cash flows generated by the Hotels. Management expects
thatthe executionofthisfacility will assistin stabilising the operations relating to supply of the Hotels and
minimizing the impact of the current liquidity difficulties that Cuba is experiencing.

Planned Investments

In December 2019, the joint venture agreed thata four year refurbishmentand development plan will be carried
out, whichincludes all of the Hotels and whichwillsee a total of 187 new rooms and new facilitiesadded and 512
rooms and 57 bungalows refurbished across the whole estate. Theinvestment programmeapproved for the year
2020 was USS21 million and includes works at all four hotels, but the extent to which the 2020 investment
programme will be carried out will, amongst others, depend on the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic and the
timing of the re-opening of the Hotels.

2020 Outlook for Miramar

Although Miramar has no third party finance and a healthy cash balance that would allow it to operate without
receiving any income for a period in excess of 12 months, itisinevitable, given the temporary loss of income and
the present uncertainty surrounding the long-term effects of the Covid-19 pandemic on the Cuban and worldwide



travel markets, thattherealincomelevelsfor 2020 and possibly beyond will fall below the prior projections,
resultingin asignificant declinein the value of the hotel assets of the Company. Weexpect that it will take some
time for travel markets to return to a more optimistic profile.

The TosCuba Project

Construction of the Melid Trinidad Peninsula Hotel near Trinidad, Cuba began in December 2018 and was
advancing steadily, on budget (althoughwith some delay) when the operations of the Italian-Cuban construction
partnership and the flow of imported materials and equipment became severely impacted by the Covid-19
pandemic in February-March 2020.

At presentall major structural works have been completed and significantinternal works are already underway,
including electrical, plumbing, doors and windows, flooring, internal divisions and drywall installation.

The total capital of TosCubais US$16 million. The capital hasbeen spenton thesurface rights over the property,
pre-construction planning and development costs and the payment of part of the required deposit under the
turnkey construction contract executed with the Cuban-Italian constructionjoint venturein2018, which provides
for a total construction cost of approximately USS60 million. During 2019, additional investments to include
elevators, roadworks (entrance, parking, etc.), beach improvement, and other costs wereadded to theinvestment
budget.

In April 2018, the Companyarranged, andstill participates in a US$45 million construction finance facility to be
disbursed under two tranches of US$22.5 million / £17.2 millioneach. Further detail on this facility is provided in
the notes to the financial statements below.

TosCubareceived agrantinthe amount of USS10 million/ £7.6 millionunderthe Spanish Cuban Debt Conversion
Programme. Inaccordance with theterms of the grant, these funds were used by the joint venture company to
fund local purchases of goods and services delivered under the construction contract by Cubansuppliers, thereby
reducing the external funding that the Company would otherwise have needed to provide.

Sincebeinginformedthatthe construction wouldbe affected by the Covid-19 pandemic, works have continued at
a considerablyslower paceand TosCubais presently indiscussions with the constructor to amend the turn-key
construction contract, reschedule construction activities and cash-outlays and fixa new delivery date for the hotel.
Management now expects the hotel to open during the last quarter of 2021.

FINTUR and TosCuba Finance Facilities
FINTUR Facility

Since 2002, the Company has arranged and participated innumerous secured finance facilities extended to Casa
Financiera FINTUR S.A. (“FINTUR”), the Cuban government financial institution for the tourism sector. These
facilities act as a medium-term investment and treasury management tool for the Company.

The facilities are fully secured by external tourism proceeds from numerous internationally managed hotels in
Cuba. The Companyhasasuccessful 18-yeartrackrecord in arrangingandparticipating in over €150 million of
facilities extended to FINTUR, with no defaults occurring during this period.

Under the mostrecent facility, originally executed in2016in the principal amount of €24 millionandsubsequently
amended in 2019 throughthe addition of a second trancheinthe principal amount of €12 million, the Compa ny
had aninitial participation of €4 millionunder thefirst trancheand a €2 million participation under the second
tranche. This facility generates an8.00% interest rate and operated successfullywithout delay or default until the
closureof all Cuban hotelsinMarch 2020as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic. Atthattime, the income from the
hotels thatserveas the basis for payments under the FINTUR facility ceased and such income is expected to
resumeonly after Cuba's tourismrestarts forinternational tourism. International tourismis expected to restart on



numerous Cuban islands andother isolated resort destinations (includingnumerous destinations where the facility
hotels arelocated) inthefall of 2020, although it remains unclear at this time how quickly suchincome will return
to previous levels.

With effect from 1 April 2020, the Company and FINTUR agreed to revise the remaining outstanding payments
under the FINTUR facility andto provide a one-year period of grace on the payment of principal and a two-year
principal payment period thereafter. Interest payments have been suspended during the periodduring which the
hotels are closed, but will resume as soon as the hotels resume operations or by 31 December 2020 at the latest.
The principal amount outstanding infavour of the Company undertherevised FINTUR facility at 30 June 2020 is
USS$1,930,759 /£1,562,229 (31 December 2019: USS$3,230,171 / £2,463,334).

TosCuba - Construction Facility

As mentioned above, in April 2018 CEIBA arranged andexecuted a secured construction finance facility infavour of
TosCubain order to provide fundingfor the construction of the Melia Trinidad Playa Hotel. The facility is in the
maximum principal amount of up to US$45 million, to be disbursed in two tranches, with an 8.00% interest rate.
The Company is a participantin bothtranches andthefirstdisbursement under Tranche A of the facility was made
in November 2018inthelead-up period to the formal constructionstart of the projectin December2018. As at 30
June 2020 the principal amount of US$13,614,722/£11,016,039 (31 December2019: US$9,915,549/£7,561,619)
had been disbursed under the Company's participation. Theremainder of the facility will be disbursed over the
remaining construction period, followed by a nine-year repayment period.

This facility maybe syndicatedandis secured by the futureincome of the hotel under construction and 50% of the
principal amountis furthersecured by a guarantee given by Cubanacan S.A., Corporacién de Turismo y Comercio
Internacional (“Cubanacan”), the Cubanshareholder of TosCuba, backed by income from another hotel in Cuba.

As aresultof the expected temporary |l oss of dividendincome from Miramarand the uncertainty with respect to
the receiptof dividendincome from Monte Barreto duringthe Covid-19 pandemic, itis possible that in the future
the Company maybe forced to attract funding fromits shareholders or third partiesinorderto continue providing
the amounts committed underthefacility. We are currently envisaging debt rather than equity funding for this
purpose.

OUTLOOK

Management expects that, as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic, the very difficult economic and political
circumstances faced by Cubain thefirst half of 2020 will continue for the rest of theyear and possibly into 2021,
andthatthelocal market conditionsinwhichthe Group operates will remain very challenging for some time to
come.

The further accentuation of the liquidity challenges faced by the Cuban economyas a result of the pandemic and
the U.S. Cuban embargo are expected to negatively impact the timing of dividend and other payments to the
Company, aswellas the timing of the ongoing development of the TosCuba Project. However, these negative
factorsareoffsetby (i) promising new reform measures announced in July 2020 regarding the financial and
currencyframework within which Cubanjoint venture companies will operate goingforward, which are expected
(following a shorttransition period and once the regulatory framework is fully putin place) to provide to the
management of joint venture companies a far greater degree of control over company finances, including the
payment of future dividends, and (ii) the possibility of a Biden victory in the presidential elections to be held in
November.

Wedo expect that all of the hotels of Miramar will re-open in 2020, that occupancy levels in the hotels will
gradually return to pre-pandemiclevels duringthe course of the coming yearand thatall of our underlying Cuban
real estate assets, the Cuban joint ventures in which we areinvested andtheloan facilities in which we participate
will continue to generate positive operational results. In addition, with the TosCuba construction project and
renovations at existing hotels underway and inexecution, we are investing today to ensure and safeguard growth



inthefuture. Wealso anticipatethatwewill beableto leverage our long-standing experienceinthe marketplace
to continueinvestinginthe country despite the challenging environment, as well as to negotiate and execute
attractive new long-term investment opportunities.

Sebastiaan A.C. Berger
Aberdeen Asset Investments Limited
28 September 2020

INTERIM BOARD REPORT
DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The Directors areresponsible for preparing this Half-YearlyReportinaccordance with applicable law and
regulations.

The Directors confirm to the best of their knowledge that:

- theInterim Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements, prepared in accordance with the applicable
accounting standards, give a trueandfairview of the assets, liabilities, financial positionand profit or loss
of the Company, and all the undertakings included in the consolidation as a whole;

- this Interim Board Reportincludes a fair review of the information required by DTR 4.2.7R of the FCA’s
Disclosure Guidance and TransparencyRules, being an indication of important events that have occurred
during the first six months of the financial year and their impact on the condensed set of financial
statements, anda description of the principal risks and uncertainties forthe remaining six months of the
year; and

- thefinancial statements include a fair review of the information required by DTR 4.2.8R of the FCA’s
Disclosure Guidance and TransparencyRules, being related party transactions that have taken placein the
first six months of the financial year and that have materially affected the financial position or
performance of the Company during that period, and any changes in the related party transactions
described in the last Annual Report that could do so.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Board regularly reviews the principal risks and uncertainties affecting the Company together with the
mitigating actionsithas establishedto managetheserisks. These are set out in detail in the Company’s Annual
Report and Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2019 and can be summarised under the
following headings:

® EmergingRisk
- Global Pandemic

® Risks Relating to the Company and its Investment Strategy
- InvestmentStrategy and Objective
- InvestmentRestrictions
® PortfolioandOperational Risks
- JointVentureRisk
- Real EstateRisk
- TourismRisk

- Valuation Risk



- Dependenceon ThirdParty Service Providers
- Loss of Key Fund Personnel
® RisksRelating to Investmentin CubaandtheU.S. Embargo
- General Economic, Political, Legal and Financial Environment within Cuba
- U.S. Government Restrictions relatingto Cuba
- Helms-Burton Risk
- LiquidityRisk
® Risks Relating to Regulatory and Taxframework
- TaxRisk

The Board notes that therearea number of contingent risks stemming from the Covid-19 pandemic that currently
impact, and maycontinue to impact, the operations of the Company asset out in the Chairman’s Statement and
the Manager’s Review. With the support from the Board, the Manager will continue to review carefully the
composition of the Company’s portfolioandwillbe pro-active in taking investment decisions where necessary.

Inall other respects, the Company’s principal risks and uncertainties have not materially changed since the date of
the 2019 Annual Report.

GOING CONCERN

In accordance with the FRC’s Guidance on Risk Management, Internal Control and Related Financial and Business
Reporting, the Directors have undertaken a rigorous review of the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern.

The Directors have reviewed cash flow projections that detail revenue and liabilities and will continue to receive
cashflow projections as part of the Company’s reporting and monitoring processes. After reviewing the cashflow
projections and the significant capital commitments, as well as taking into account the principal risks and
uncertainties, including the impact of Covid-19, the Directors believe that the Company has adequate financial
resources to continueits operational existence forthe foreseeable futureandatleast 12 months from the date of
this Half-Yearly Report.

Accordingly, the Directors believe thatitis appropriate to continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing
the Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

For and on behalfof the Board

Peter Cornell Keith Corbin
28 September 2020 28 September 2020

INDEPENDENT REVIEW REPORT TO CEIBA INVESTMENTS LIMITED

Introduction

We havereviewed the condensed set of consolidated financial statements of CEIBA Investment Limited and its
Subsidiaries (together, the ‘Group’) includedin the halfyearly report for the six months ended 30 June 2020, which
comprises the Interim Condensed Consolidated Statement of Financial Position asat30June2020and the related
Interim Condensed Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Interim Condensed Consolidated



Statement of Changes inEquity and the Interim Condensed Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the six-
month period then ended and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

The half yearly report is the responsibility of, and has been approved by, the Directors. The Directors are
responsible for preparingthe half yearly reportinaccordance with the Disclosure Guidance and Transparency
Rules of the United Kingdom'’s Financial Conduct Authority. The Directors areresponsible for the preparation and
fair presentation of theinterim condensedfinancial statements containedin the half yearly report, in accordance
with International Accounting Standard 34, ‘Interim Financial Reporting’ issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board. Ourresponsibility is to express a conclusionon the interim condensed financial statements based
on our review.

Scope of review

We conducted ourreviewin accordance with International Standard on Review Engagements (UK and Ireland)
2410, ‘Review of Interim Financial Information Performed by the Independent Auditor of the Entity.” A review of
interim financial information consists of making inquiries, primarily of persons responsible for financial and
accounting matters, andapplying analyticaland other review procedures. Areviewis substantially less in scope
than anauditconducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) and consequently does not
enableus to obtain assurance that we would become aware of all significant matters that might beidentifiedinan
audit. Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion.

Emphasis of matter — valuation uncertainty

In forming our conclusion, we have considered the adequacy of the disclosures made in Note 2 to the interim
condensed consolidated financial statements concerning the material uncertainty on the valuation of the
underlying real estate assets comprisingthe valuation of the equity investments. As explained in Notes 2 and 16,
the investments are carried at fair value, determined using a valuation methodology which involves judgments and
estimates made by management. The valuationof the underlyingreal estate assets has been preparedin a period
of significant marketinstability as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic, and itis not possible to ascertain when the
Cuban tourism sectorand economy will recover to anywhere near previous levels, which resultin uncertainty in
valuingthe underlying properties. However, the Board believes that the Group has adequate financial resources to
continueits operational existences forthe foreseeable futureandatleast 12 months from the date of the Group’s
interim condensedfinancial statements, andthatthe goingconcernbasis remains appropriate in preparing the
Interim Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements. Our review conclusion is not qualified in this respect.

Unqualified conclusion

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the condensed set of
consolidated financial statements inthe half yearly report forthe sixmonths ended 30June 2020 is not prepared,
inall material respects, inaccordance with International Accounting Standard 34 andthe Disclosure Guidance and
Transparency Rules of the United Kingdom'’s Financial Conduct Authority.

Grant Thornton Limited
Chartered Accountants
St Peter Port, Guernsey, Channel Islands

25 September 2020
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position Unaudited Audited

As at 30 June 2020 as at 6 months as at 12 months
30 Jun 2020 31 Dec 2019
Note uss uss

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 4 9,605,315 13,102,578
Accounts receivable and accrued income 5 9,488,025 2,211,832
Loans and lending facilities 6 3,589,116 2,558,018
Total current assets 22,682,456 17,872,428

Non-current assets

Accounts receivable and accrued income 5 1,177,599 5,646,484
Loans and lending facilities 6 13,614,722 10,587,702
Equity investments 8 180,517,685 227,340,559
Property, plant and equipment 550,620 568,346
Total non-current assets 195,860,626 244,143,091
Total assets 218,543,082 262,015,519
Liabilities

Current liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 9 2,210,550 2,066,213
Deferred liabilities 12 1,000,000 1,000,000
Short-term borrowings 7 1,551,727 -
Total current liabilities 4,762,277 3,066,213

Non-current liabilities

Deferred liabilities 12 2,333,333 2,833,333
Total non-current liabilities 2,333,333 2,833,333
Total liabilities 7,095,610 5,899,546
Equity

Stated capital 106,638,023 106,638,023
Revaluation surplus 319,699 319,699
Retained earnings 65,968,585 95,422,003
Accumulated other comprehensive income 4,572,229 4,354,609
Equity attributable to the shareholders of the parent 177,498,536 206,734,334
Non-controlling interest 10 33,948,936 49,381,639
Total equity 211,447,472 256,115,973
Total liabilities and equity 218,543,082 262,015,519
NAV 10 177,498,536 206,734,334
NAV per share 10 1.29 1.50

See accompanying notes 1 to 18, which are an integral part of these interim condensed consolidated financial statements. These interim
condensed consolidated financial statements were approved by the board of Directors and authorised for issue on 28 September 2020. They
were signed on the Company's behalf by:

Peter Cornell, Director Keith Corbin, Director



Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income Unaudited Unaudited
For the period ended 30 June 2020 6 months 6 months
30Jun 2020 30Jun 2019
Note uss uss
Income
Dividend income 8 6,884,559 12,454,918
Interest income 703,456 322,147
Travel agency commissions 1,439 7,321
7,589,454 12,784,386
Expenses
Loss on change in fair value of equity investments 8 (46,879,952) (19,166,144)
Management fees 12 (1,010,822) (1,012,149)
Other staff costs (31,991) (35,610)
Travel (36,840) (55,908)
Operational costs (39,217) (47,434)
Legal and professional fees (603,368) (505,975)
Administration fees and expenses (136,742) (136,536)
Interest expense (41,168) -
Audit fees (162,367) (340,210)
Miscellaneous expenses (46,005) (63,668)
Director fees and expenses 12 (112,846) (124,200)
Depreciation (19,990) (18,057)
Foreign exchange loss (394,798) (283,319)
(49,516,106) (21,789,210)
Netloss before taxation (41,926,652) (9,004,824)
Income taxes - -
Net loss for the period (41,926,652) (9,004,824)
Other comprehensive income to be reclassified to profit
or loss in subsequent periods - -
Gain/(loss) on exchange differences of translation of
foreign operations 334,802 (725,749)
Total comprehensive loss (41,591,850) (9,730,573)
Net loss for the period attributable to:
Shareholders of the parent (29,453,418) (5,137,375)
Non-controlling interest (12,473,234) (3,867,449)
Total comprehensive loss attributable to:
Shareholders of the parent (29,235,798) (5,609,112)
Non-controlling interest (12,356,052) (4,121,461)
Basic and diluted (loss)/gain per share 13 (0.21) (0.04)

See accompanying notes 1 to 19, which are an integral part of these interim condensed consolidated financial statements.



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the period ended 30 June 2020

Operating activities

Net loss for the period

Items not effecting cash:

Depreciation

Change in fair value of equity investments

Foreign exchange gain

Increase in accounts receivable

and accrued income

Increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses
Amortisation of deferred liability

Net cash flows from operating activities

Investing activities

Purchase of property, plant & equipment
Miramar Confirming facility

Loans and lending facilities disbursed
Loans and lending facilities recovered

Net cash flows used in investing activities

Financing activities

Receipt of past dividends not settled with shareholder

Short term borrowings received

Payment of cash dividends

Cash distribution to non-controlling interest
Contributions received from non-controlling interest

Net cash flows used in from financing activities

Change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the period
Foreign exchange on cash

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period

Dividends received
Interest received

Interest paid

See accompanying notes 1to 19, which are an integral part of these consolidated interim financial statements.

6 months 6 months

Note 30 Jun 2020 30Jun 2019
(41,926,652) (9,004,824)

19,990 18,057

46,879,952 19,166,144

394,798 283,319

5,368,088 10,462,696

(2,807,308) (2,300,127)

144,337 1,080,089

12 (500,000) (500,000)
2,205,117 8,742,658

(2,264) (44,330)

6 (1,658,357) -
(3,699,173) (2,620,608)

1,299,412 774,757

(4,060,382) (1,890,181)

- 276,823

7 1,551,727 -
- (8,560,689)

(3,161,056) -

84,405 22,386

(1,524,924) (8,261,480)

(3,380,189) (1,409,003)

13,102,578 19,814,790

(117,074) (66,202)

9,605,315 18,339,585

6,000,000 10,396,811

267,650 106,712

41,168 -



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the period ended 30 June 2020

Other Total Equity Non-
Revaluation Retained comprehensive attributable controlling
Stated Capital Surplus Earnings income to the parent interest Total Equity
Note uss uss$ uss$ us$ uss$ uss uss$

Balance at 1January
2020 106,638,023 319,699 95,422,003 4,354,609 206,734,334 49,381,639 256,115,973
Net loss for the

period - - (29,453,418) - (29,453,418)  (12,473,234) (41,926,652)
Capital contributions

from non-controlling

interest - - - - - 84,405 84,405
Cash distribution to

non-controlling

interest - - - - - (3,161,056) (3,161,056)
Net other

comprehensive

income to be

reclassified to profit

or loss in subsequent

periods - - - 217,620 217,620 117,182 334,802
Balance at 30 June

2020 106,638,023 319,699 65,968,585 4,572,229 177,498,536 33,948,936 211,447,472
See accompanying notes 1to 19, which arean integral part of these interim condensed consolidated financial
statements.

For the period ended 30 June 2019
Total
Equity
Other attributab Non-
Stated Revaluation Retained comprehensi le to the controllin
Capital Surplus Earnings ve income parent g interest Total Equity
Note uss uss uss uss$ uss$ uss$ uss$

Balance at1 January

2019 106,638,023 298,449 96,403,178 2,301,696 205,641,346 55,674,370 261,315,716

Net loss for the

period - - (5,137,375) - (5,137,375) (3,867,449) (9,004,824)

Capital contributions

from non-controlling

interest - - - - - 22,386 22,386

Net income for the (471,737) (471,737) (254,012) (725,749)

period - - -

Dividend declared (8,560,689) - (8,560,689) - (8,560,689)

during the period 18 - -

Balance at 30 June

2019 106,638,023 298,449 82,705,114 1,829,959 191,471,545 51,575,295 243,046,840

(i) See accompanying notes 1to 19, which arean integralpart of these consolidated interim financial
statements.
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CEIBA Investments Limited

Notes to the Interim Consolidated Financial Statements
For the six monthsended 30 June 2020

Corporate information

Theseinterim condensed consolidated financial statements for the Interim Financial Report include the accounts
of CEIBAInvestments Limited andits subsidiaries, which are collectively referred to as the “Group” or “CEIBA”.

CEIBAwas incorporated in 1995inGuernsey, Channel Islands as a registered closed-ended collective investment
scheme with registered number30083. InMay 2013, the status of CEIBA changed to an unregulated investment
company ratherthana regulated investment fund. The status of CEIBAwas changed back to a registered closed-
ended collective investment scheme on 11 September 2018 under The Protection of Investors (Bailiwick of
Guernsey) Law, 1987 as amended. Theregistered office of CEIBAis located at DoreyCourt, Admiral Park, St. Peter
Port, Guernsey, Channel Islands GY1 2HT.

The principal holdingandoperatingsubsidiary of the Group is CEIBA Property Corporation Limited (“CPC”) which
holds a licenseissued by the Cuban Chamber of Commerce andhas officesinCubalocated at the Miramar Trade
Center, Edificio Barcelona, Suite 401, 5 Avenida, esq. a 76, Miramar, Playa, La Habana, Cuba.

The principal investment objective of CEIBA is to achieve capital growth and dividend income from direct and
indirectinvestmentinor with Cuban businesses, primarily in the tourism and commercial real estate sectors, and
other revenue-generating investments primarily related to Cuba.

The Group currently invests in Cubanjoint venture companies that are activein two majorsegments of Cuba’s real
estateindustry: (i) the devel opment, ownership and management of revenue-producing commercial properties,
and (ii) the development, ownership and management of hotel properties. In addition, the Group occasionally
arranges and participates insecured finance facilities and other interest-bearing financial instruments granted in
favour of Cubanborrowers, primarily in the tourism sector. The Group’s asset baseis primarily made up of equity
investments in Cuban joint venture companies that operate in the real estate segments mentioned above.

The officers are contracted through third party entities or consultancyagreements. CEIBAandits subsidiaries do
not have any obligations in relation to other future employee benefits.

On 22 October 2018, CEIBA completed aninitial publicoffering and listed its ordinary shares on the Specialist Fund
Segment of the London Stock Exchange (“LSE-SFS”), where it trades under the symbol “CBA”. The Group also
entered into a managementagreement, with effect from 1 November 2018, under which the Group has appointed
Aberdeen Standard Fund Managers Limited (“ASFML” or the “AIFM”) as the Group’s alternative investment fund
manager to provide portfolio and risk management services to the Group. The AIFM has delegated portfolio
management to Aberdeen Asset Investments Limited (the “Investment Manager”). Both the AIFM and the
Investment Manager are wholly-owned subsidiaries of Standard Life Aberdeen plc (see note 12).

Basis of preparation

2.1 Statement of compliance and basis of measurement

The same accountingpolicies and methods of computation are followedin the Interim Financial Report with the
mostrecent Annual Reportand Consolidated Financial Statements (31 December 2019). The interim condensed
financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting.

The interim condensed consolidated financial statement do notinclude all the information and disclosures
required in theannual financial statements, and should be read in conjunction with the Annual Consolidated

Financial Statements as at 31 December 2019.

2.2 Functional and presentation currency



CEIBA Investments Limited

Notes to the Interim Consolidated Financial Statements
For the six monthsended 30 June 2020

Theseinterim condensed consolidated financial statements are presented in United States Dollars (“USS”), which
is the Group’s reporting currency and the Parent Company’s functional currency. The majority of the Group’s
income, equity investments and transactions are denominated in USS, subsidiaries are re-translated to USS to be
aligned with the functional currency of the Group.

2.3 Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of the Group’s interim condensed consolidated financial statements, in conformity with IFRS,
requires management to make judgements, estimates, andassumptions that affect the application of accounting
policiesandthereported amounts of assets andliabilities, disclosure of contingent assets andliabilities atthe date
of the interim condensed consolidated financial statements, andthe reported amounts of revenues and expenses
during the reporting period.

Management judgements

The key management judgements made by management in relation to the interim condensed consolidated
financial statements are:

a) Thatthe Group is notan Investment Entity;
b) Thatthe Group is a Venture Capital Organisation.
¢) Thatthe functional currency of the parent company (Ceiba Investments Limited) is USS.

Management estimates — valuation of equity investments

Significantareas requiring the use of estimates also include the valuation of equity investments. Actual results
could differ from those estimates.

Estimates andunderlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoingbasis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future period affec ted.

In determining estimates of recoverable amounts and fairvalues for its equity investments, the Group relies on
independentvaluations, historical experience, andassumptions regarding applicable industry performance and
prospects, as well as general business and economic conditions that prevail and are expected to prevail.
Assumptions underlying asset valuations are limited by the availability of reliable comparable data and the
uncertainty of predictions concerning future events (see note 8).

By their nature, assetvaluations are subjective and do not necessarily resultin precise determinations. Should the
underlying assumptions change, the carrying amounts could change and, potentially, by a material amount.

Valuation of equity investments

The determination of the fair values of the equity investments may include independent valuations of the
underlying properties owned by the joint venture companies. These valuations assume a level of working capital
required fordayto day operations of the properties. Management estimates the amount of cash required for
these working capital needs to determine if the joint venture companies hold any excess cash that should be
added as a component of the fair value of the equity investments.

2.4 Reportable operating segments

An operating segmentis a distinguishable component of the Group thatis engaged inthe provision of products or
services (business segment). The primary segment reporting format of the Group is determined to be business
segments as the Group’s business segments are distinguishable by distinct financial information provided to and
reviewed by the chief operating decision maker in allocating resources arising from the products or services
engaged by the Group.

2.5 Equity investments
Equity investmentsinclude thedirectand indirectinterests of the Group in Cuban joint venture companies, which



CEIBA Investments Limited
Notes to the Interim Consolidated Financial Statements
For the six monthsended 30 June 2020

inturn holdcommercial properties, hotel properties andhotel properties under devel opment. Cubanjoint venture
companies are incorporated under Cuban law and have both Cuban and foreign shareholders.

Equity investments of the Group are measured at fair value through profit or loss in accordance with IFRS 9,
Financial Instruments: (“IFRS 9”), on the basis of the exception provided for per IAS 28. Changes in fair value are
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in the period of the change.

2.6 New standards, amendments and interpretations that arerelevant to the Group issuedbut not effective for
the financial year beginning 1 January 2020 and early adopted
Thereareno other standards, interpretations or amendments to existing standards that are not yet effective that
would be expected to have a significantimpact on the Group.

2.7 Changes in accounting policies

Standards and interpretations applicable this period
The accountingpolicies applied during this year are fully consistent with those applied in the previous period.

2.8 Going concern

The Directors have a reasonable expectationthatthe Company has adequate resources to continuein operational
existencefortheforeseeablefutureand has significant liquid funds to do so. Accordingly, the Directors have
adopted the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

Summary of significant accounting policies

The accountingpolicies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these interim
condensed consolidated financial statements.

3.1 Consolidation

The interim condensed consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of CEIBA and its
subsidiaries asat30June 2020. Control is achieved when the Groupis exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
investee. Specifically, the Group controls an investee if and only if the Group has:

e Power over theinvestee (i.e. existingrights that giveitthe currentability to direct the relevant activities
of the investee)

e Exposure, or rights, to variable returns fromits involvement with the investee, and

e Theability to useits power over the investee to affectits returns

When the Group haslessthana majorityof thevoting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

e The contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee
e Rights arising from other contractual arrangements
e The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights

The Group re-assesses whether ornotit controlsaninvestee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and cease to be
consolidated from the date on whichcontrolis transferred out of the Group. Where thereis a loss of control of a
subsidiary, the interim condensed consolidated financial statements include the results for the part of the
reporting period during which the Group has control.

The Group had directand indirect equity interests in the following entitiesasat30 June 2020and 31 December
2019:
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Equity interestheld indirectly

Country of by the Group
Entity Name Incorporation or holding entity
30Jun2020 31 Dec2019
1.CEIBAProperty Corporation Limited (a) (i) Guernsey 100% 100%
1.1. GrandSlam Limited (a) (ii) Guernsey 100% 100%
1.2. CEIBAMTC Properties Inc.(a) (iii) Panama 100% 100%
1.2.1 Inmobiliaria Monte Barreto S.A. (b) (iv) Cuba 49% 49%
1.3.CEIBATourismB.V. (a) (viii) Netherlands 100% 100%
1.3.1. HOMASI S.A. (a) (iii) Spain 65% 65%
1.3.1.1. MiramarS.A. (b) (vi) Cuba 50% 50%
1.3.2. MosaicoHoteles S.A. (a) (iii) Switzerland 80% 80%
1.3.2.1 TosCubaS.A. (b) (vii) Cuba 50% 50%
1.3.3.MosaicoB.V.(a) (v) Netherlands 80% 80%

(vi)

Company consolidated at30 June2020and at 31 December 2019.

Company accounted at fair value at 30 June 2020 and at 31 December 2019

Holding company for the Group’s interests in real estate investments in Cuba that are facilitated by a
representative office in Havana.

Operates a travel agency that provides services to international clients for travel to Cuba.

Holding company for underlying investments with no other significant assets.

Joint venture Company that holds the Miramar Trade Center as its principal asset.

On 11 March2019,all oftheshares in Mosaico Hoteles S.A. held by Mosaico B.V., together with (i) the full
outstanding value of the shareholder loan extended by Mosaico B.V. to Mosaico Hoteles S.A., and (ii) all
payables owed by Mosaico B.V., were transferred by Mosaico B.V. to CEIBA Tourism B.V. (80%) and to Melia
Hotels International (20%)in accordance with theirshareholdings in Mosaico B.V., with theresult that Mosaico
Hoteles S.A.is now owned directly by CEIBA Tourism B.V. (80%) and Melia Hotels International S.A. (20%) and
Mosaico B.V.nolongerhasany assets or liabilities. Itis intended that Mosaico B.V. will be liquidated in the
near future.

Jointventurethatholdsthe Melid Habana Hotel, Melid Las Americas Hotel, Melid Varadero Hotel and Sol
Palmeras Hotel as its principal assets.

(vii) Joint Venture Company incorporated to build a beach hotel in Trinidad, Cuba.

All inter-companytransactions, balances, income, expenses and unrealised surpluses and deficits on transactions
between CEIBAInvestments Limited and its subsidiaries have been eliminated on consolidation. Non-controlling
interestrepresenttheinterestsinthe operating results and net assets of subsidiaries attributable to minority
shareholders.

Cash and cash equivalents

30Jun 2020 31 Dec2019

uss uss

Cashonhand 6,293 16,183
Bank currentaccounts 9,599,022 13,086,395

9,605,315 13,102,578
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Accounts receivable and accrued income

Dividends receivable from Miramar S.A.

Dividends receivable from Inmobiliaria Monte Barreto S.A.
Loaninterestreceivable from TosCuba S.A.

Other accounts receivable and deposits

Current portion
Non-current portion

The following table details the expected liquidity of accounts receivable:

Upto 30days

Between 31 and 90 days
Between 91 and 180days
Between 181 and 365 days
Over 365 days

Tradereceivables areassessed interms of the simplified approach for expected credit losses per IFRS 9 due to
trade receivables not containing a significant financing component and majority consisting of accounts receivable
fromtravel agencyactivities inGrandSlam whichareimmaterial. GrandSlamis a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group. As a result of thecompositionof thereceivables balancethe creditrisk is assessed to be low due to the
nature of thereceivables and impairment|oss to be immaterial. Dividend receivables thatare short-termin nature
areoutsidethescope of IFRS9’s simplified approach and there has been no history of defaults and therefore
based on therelationship with Inmobiliaria Monte Barreto S.A.and Miramar S.Athereis no expectation of default

over the next 12 months.

Loans and lending facilities

TosCubaS.A. (i)
Casa Financiera FINTURS.A. (ii)
Miramar Facility (iii)

Current portion
Non-current portion

30Jun2020 31 Dec2019
uss Uss$
310,596 -
7,496,931 6,922,968
1,095,870 633,070
1,762,227 302,278
10,665,624 7,858,316
9,488,025 2,211,832
1,177,599 5,646,484
30Jun2020 31 Dec2019
uss uss
579,807 120,898
1,083,179 66,335
2,317,960 2,010,678
5,507,079 13,921
1,177,599 5,646,484
10,665,624 7,858,316

30Jun 2020 31Dec2019

Uss uss
13,614,722 9,915,549
1,930,759 3,230,171
1,658,357 -
17,203,838 13,145,720
3,589,116 2,558,018
13,614,722 10,587,702
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(i)

(ii)

(ii)

(iif)

In April 2018, the Groupentered into a construction finance agreement (the “Construction Facility”) with
TosCubaS.A. (“TosCuba”) for the purpose of extending to TosCuba part of the funding necessary for the
construction of the Melid Trinidad Peninsula Hotel. The Construction Facility is in the maximum principal
amountof US$45,000,000, divided into two separate tranches of US$22,500,000 each. The Group has the
right to syndicate Tranche B of the Construction Facility to other lenders.

The principal terms of the Construction Facility include, (i) a grace periodfor principalandinterest during the
construction period of the hotel. Since being informed that the construction wouldbe affected by the Covid-
19 pandemic, works have continued at a slower pace and TosCuba is presently in discussions with the
constructor to fix a new delivery date for the hotel. Management now expects the hotel to open in the
second half of 2021, (ii) upon expiry of the grace period, accumulated interest will be repaid, followed by a
repayment period of eight years during which blended payments of principaland interest will be made, (iii)
interest will accrue on amounts outstanding under the Construction Facility at the rate of 8 per cent.

The firstdisbursement under the Construction Facility was made on 23 November 2018. Repayment of the
ConstructionFacility is secured by an assignmentin favour of the lenders of all of the future income of the
Melia Trinidad Peninsula Hotel followingstart-up of operations. In addition, Tranche B of the Construction
Facilityisalsosecured by a guarantee provided by Cubanacan S.A., Corporacion de Turismo y Comercio
Internacional (the Cuban shareholder of TosCuba) as well as by an assignment in favour of the Group (in its
capacity as Tranche Blender)of allinternational tourism proceeds generated by the Melid Santiago de Cuba
Hotel. The Construction Facility represents a financial asset. Based on the terms of theloan is not repayable
ondemand and thereisno expectation thatitwill be repaid within 12 months since there is a multi year
grace period and a further 8 year payment period, therefore the immediate expected credit loss is not
considered to be material to the Group.

InJuly 2016, the Company arranged and participated in a €24,000,000 (USS$26,875,200) syndicated facility
providedto Casa Financiera FINTUR S.A. (“FINTUR”), subsequently amended in May 2019to include a second
trancheinthe principal amount of €12,000,000 (US$13,437,600). The Company had aninitial participation of
€4,000,000(USS$4,479,000) underthefirsttrancheand a €2,000,000 (US$2,239,600) participation under the
second tranche. The term of the facility was due to expirein June 2021 but, with the closure of all Cuban
hotels as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic, an additional grace period has been granted and the term has
been extended to March 2023. Inaddition, theamounts outstanding under the two existing tranches of the
facility were consolidated into a single tranche. The facility has fixed interest rate of 8%, and under the
renegotiated termsinterest will accumulate until 31 December 2020 and then be paid quarterly, and ei ght
quarterly principal payments will be due beginningin June2021and ending in March 2023. This facility is
secured by Euro-denominated off-shore tourism proceeds payable to FINTUR by certain international hotel
operators managing four separate hotelsinCuba. Theloanto FINTUR represents a financial asset. Based on
historicalanalysis FINTUR has made all payments on time withno hadit defaults since the inception of this
facility nor had it defaulted under with previous loan facilities.

The loanis notrepayable on demand. Ithasbeen determined thatthereis no significantrisk of default over
the next 12 months, therefore the expected credit loss is assessed to be immaterial to the Group.

In early December 2019, HOMASI (the foreign shareholder of Miramar) executed a confirming and
discounting facility with Miramar that has a maximum limit of USS7 million for the purpose of confirmingand
discounting supplier invoices relating to the operations of the four hotels owned by the joint venture
company. Thefacility will be financed in part by a €3,500,000 credit line received by HOMASIfroma Spanish
bank for this purpose, thus alleviating the present cash flow position of the Company. The facility has
economicterms (finance cost 3.5%), and the facility will be secured by the offshore cash flows generated by
two of the Hotels. Management expects that the execution of this facility will assistin stabilising the
operations of the Hotels and minimizing the impact of the current liquidity difficulties that Cuba is
experiencing. Ithas been determined that there is no significant risk of default over the next 12 months,
therefore the expected credit loss is assessed to be immaterial to the Group.
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The following table details the expected maturities of the loans and lending facilities portfolio:

Upto 30days

Between 31 and 90 days
Between 91 and 180days
Between 181 and 365 days
Over 365 days

Short-term borrowings

Short-term finance facility (i)

30Jun 2020 31 Dec2019
uss UssS
802,523 504,135
223,960 802,882
223,960 802,882
2,338,673 448,119
13,614,722 10,587,702
17,203,838 13,145,720

30Jun 2020 31Dec2019

uss Uss$

1,551,727 -

1,551,727 -

(i) Bankcreditline held by HOMASI. (see note 6 for further details around the economic terms and the nature of

the facility )

Equity investments

MiramarS.A.

Inmobiliaria Monte Barreto S.A.
TosCubaS.A.

Balance at 31 December 2018
Foreign currency translation reserve
Change in fair value of equity investments

Balance at 30 June 2019

Foreign currency translation reserve

Change in fair value of equity investments

30Jun 2020 31 Dec2019
uss uss
86,258,779 127,887,983
81,258,906 86,702,576
13,000,000 12,750,000
180,517,685 227,340,559
Immobiliaria
Miramar S.A (i) Monte TosCuba S.A (ii) Total
uss Barreto S.A uss uss
uss
154,630,176 76,165,505 8,000,000 238,795,681
(942,865) - - (942,865)
(21,227,468) (438,676) 2,500,000 (19,166,144)
132,459,843 75,726,829 10,500,000 218,686,672
4,146,305 4,146,305
(8,718,165) 10,975,747 2,250,000 4,507,582
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Balance at 31 December 2019 127,887,983 86,702,576 12,750,000 227,340,559
Foreign currency translation reserve 57,078 - - 57,078
Change in fair value of equity investments (41,686,282) (5,443,670) 250,000 (46,879,952)
Balance at 30 June 2020 86,258,779 81,258,906 13,000,000 180,517,685

(i) The value of Miramar represents the 50% foreign equity interest in Miramar S.A. including non-controlling interests.
(ii) The value of TosCuba represents the 50% foreign equity interest in TosCuba S.A. including non-controlling interests.

Belowis a description of the equity investments of the Groupandthe key assumptions usedto estimate their fair
values.

Monte Barreto
The Group holds the full foreign equity interest of 49% in the Cuban joint venture company Immobiliaria Monte
Barreto S.A, incorporated in 1996 for the constructionandsubsequent operation of the Miramar Trade Center. The

MiramarTrade Center is a six-building complex comprising approximately 80,000 square meters of constructed
area of which approximately 56,000 square meters is net rentable area.

The Group isthesoleforeigninvestor in Monte Barreto and holds its 49% interest in the joint venture company
throughits wholly-owned subsidiary CEIBA MTC Properties Inc. (“CEIBA MTC”), incorporated in Panama. The
remaining 51% interest in Monte Barreto is held by the Cuban partner in the joint venture company.

The incorporation and operations of Monte Barreto are governed by a deed of incorporation (including an
association agreement and corporate by-laws) dated 7 March 1996 between CEIBA MTC and the Cuban
shareholder. Under the Monte Barreto deed of incorporation, Monte Barreto was incorporated for aninitial term
of 50 years expiringin 2046. All decisions at shareholder meetings require the unanimous agreement of the Cuban
and foreign shareholders.

Key assumptions used in the estimated fair value of Monte Barreto:

The fair value of the equity investment in Monte Barreto is determined by the Board of CEIBA taking into
consideration various factors, including estimated future cashflows from the investment, estimated replacement
costs, transactionsinthe private market and other available market evidenceto arriveatan appropriate value. The

Group alsoengages an independent valuation firm to perform an independent valuation of the property owned by
the joint venture.

The Investment Manager and the Board mayalsotakeintoaccountadditionalrelevant information that impacts
the fair value of the equity investment that has not been considered in the valuation of the underlying property of
the jointventure. Onesuch fair value considerationis cashheld by the joint venturein excess of its working capital
needs (“Excess Cash”). As the valuation of the underlying propertyonly assumes a |level of working capital to allow
for day to day operations, the existence of any Excess Cash needs to beincludedas anadditional component of the
fair value of the joint venture company.

Inthe case of Monte Barreto, the amount of cash required for working capital needs is estimated as the sum of: (i)
30% of tenant deposits, (i) taxes payable, (iii) dividends declared and payable, (iv) a reserve for employee bonuses,
and (v) 2 months of estimated operating expenses. The sum of these amounts is deducted from the balance of
cashand cashequivalents of the joint venture with the remaining balance, if any, being considered Excess Cash. At
30June 2020, theamount of Excess Cash thatisincluded inthe fairvalue of Monte Barreto stated in theseinterim
condensed consolidated financial statements is US$5,259,906 (31 December 2019: US$1,197,575).

Cash flows have been estimated up to 2046 when the joint venture expires. The key assumptions used in the
discounted cash flow model are the following:
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30Jun 2020 31Dec2019
Discountrate (aftertax) (i) 10.48% 9.75%
Occupancyyear 1 98% 100%
Average occupancyyear2to 8 97.5% 98.9%
Occupancyyear 8 and subsequent periods 97.5% 97.5%
Averagerental rates per square meter per month -year 1to 7 Us$27.17 USS$28.28
Annual increaseinrental rates subsequentto year7 (ii) 3.0% 3.0%
Capital investments as percentage of rental revenue 2% 2%

(i) Theeffective tax rateis estimated to be 18% (31 December 2019: 18%).
(ii) Theincreaseinrental ratesinsubsequentperiodsisin-line with the estimated rate of long-term inflation.

Miramar

HOMASI is theforeignshareholder (incorporated inSpain) that owns a 50% share equity interestin the Cuban joint
venturecompanyMiramar S.A.. Theremainingshare equity interestin Miramar is held by the Cuban shareholder
inthejointventure (asto 50%). All decisions atshareholder meetings require the unanimous agreement of the
Cuban and foreign shareholders.

In November 2018, Miramar was merged with Cubacan, the Cubanjointventure company that previously owned
the Varadero Hotels. As a result of the merger, the four hotels are now owned by Miramaras theremaining joint
venture company. Subsequent to the merger CUBANACAN contributed to Miramar the extension and granting of
the surface rights for the four hotels to 2042.

At 30June 2020 and31 December 2019 the Group holds 65% of the share equity of HOMASI, representing a 32.5%
interestin Miramar. Theremaining 35%interestin HOMASI is held by MelidHotels International S.A., representing
a 17.5%interestin Miramar, and has been accounted for as a non-controllinginterestintheseinterim condensed
consolidated financial statements.

Key assumptions used in the estimated fair value of Miramar:

The fair value of the equity investmentin Miramaris determined by the Board of CEIBAtakinginto consideration
various factors, including estimated future cash flows from the investment, estimated replacement costs,
transactionsin the private marketand other available market evidence to arrive at an appropriate value. The
Group alsoengages an independent valuation firm to performindependent valuations of the properties held by
the joint venture.

The Board mayalso takeinto account additional relevant information that impacts the fair value of the equity
investmentthathas notbeen considered inthe valuations of the underlying properties of the joint venture. One
such fair value consideration is cash held by the joint venture in excess of its working capital needs. As the
valuations of the underlying properties onlyassume a level of working capital to allow for day to day operations,
the existence of any Excess Cash needs to beincludedas an additional component of the fair value of the joint
venture company.

In the case of Miramar, the amount of cashrequired for working capital needs is estimated as thesum of: (i) taxes
payable, (ii) dividends declared and payable, (iii) trade payables greater than 90 days outstanding, and (iv) 2
months of estimated operating expenses. The sum of these amounts is deducted from the balance of cash and
cash equivalents of thejoint venture with the remaining balance, if any, being considered Excess Cash. At 30 June
2020, the amount of Excess Cash thatisincludedin thefairvalue of Miramar stated in these interim condensed
consolidated financial statements is US$14,158,779 (31 December 2019: US$20,187,983).

Cash flows have been estimated for a ten-year period. Cash flows from year 11 onward are equal to the capitalised
amount of the cash flows at year 10. The key assumptions used in the discounted cash flow model are the
following:



CEIBA Investments Limited

30 Jun 2020 31 Dec 2019

Melia Habana
Discount rate (after tax) (i) 15.3% 12.5%
Average occupancy years 1 to 10 65.5% 70.8%
Average daily rate per room - year 1 USS$S122.25 USS137.75
Averageincreasein average daily rate per room - year 2to 6 6.9% 7.5%
Increasein average daily rate per room subsequent to year 6 (ii) 3% 3%
Capital investments as percentage of total revenue 7% 7%

30Jun 2020 31Dec2019
Melid Las Americas
Discount rate (after tax) (iii) 14.7% 12.25%
Average occupancy year 1to 3 61% 78%
Occupancy year 4 and subsequent periods 80% 79.5%
Average daily rate per room - year 1 US$146.12 US$145.48
Averageincreasein average daily rate per room - year 2to 6 3.7% 3.8%
Increasein average daily rate per room subsequent to year 6 (ii) 3% 3%
Capital investments as percentage of total revenue 7% 7%

30Jun 2020 31Dec2019
Melia Varadero
Discount rate (after tax) (iii) 14.7% 12.25%
Average occupancy year 1to 5 75% 80.2%
Occupancy year 6 and subsequent periods 80% 80.4%
Average daily rate per room —vyear 1 US$91.33 Us$104.57
Averageincreasein average daily rate per room —year 2to 6 7% 4%
Increasein average daily rate per room subsequent to year 6 (ii) 3% 3%
Capital investments as percentage of total revenue 7% 7%

30Jun 2020 31Dec2019
Sol Palmeras
Discount rate (after tax) (iii) 14.7% 12.25%
Average occupancy year 1to 5 75% 79%
Occupancy year 6 and subsequent periods 80% 80%
Average daily rate per room - year 1 US$82.36 US$95.12
Increase in average daily rate per room —year 2 13% 5%
Averageincreasein average daily rate per room —year 3to 6 6% 4%
Increasein average daily rate per room subsequent to year 6 (ii) 3% 3%
Capital investments as percentage of total revenue 7% 7%

(i) The effectivetaxrateisestimatedto be 19% (31 December 2019: 19%).
(ii) Theincreaseintheaveragedaily rate per guestinsubsequent periodsisin-line with the estimated rate of

long-terminflation.

(iii) The effectivetaxrateis estimatedto be21% (31 December 2019:21%).

Sensitivity to changesin the estimatedrental rates / average daily rates

The following table details the changeinfairvalues of the equity investments, which have been estimated under
the discounted cash flow method, when applying rental rates / average daily rates between 5% lower and 5%
higher than the rates used in these interim condensed consolidated financial statements.
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The following table details the fair values of the equity investments at 30 June 2020 when applying lower and
higher rental rates / average daily rates:

Financial
statements -5% +5%
uss uss uss
MonteBarreto 81,258,906 77,228,302 85,289,510
Miramar 86,258,779 83,184,059 89,309,834

The following table details the fair values of the equity investments at 31 December 2019 when applying lower and
higher rental rates / average daily rates:

Financial
statements -5% +5%
uss uss ussS
Monte Barreto 86,702,576 82,380,413 91,328,282
Miramar 127,887,983 124,636,618 131,139,349

Sensitivity to changes in the occupancy rates

The following tables detail the changeinfairvalues of the equity investments, which have been estimated under
the discounted cash flow method, when applying occupancyrates between 5% lowerand 5% higher than therates
used in these interim condensed consolidated financial statements.

The following table details the fair values of the equity investments at 30 June 2020 when applying lower and
higher occupancy rates:

Financial
statements -5% +5%
uss uss uss
MonteBarreto (i) 81,258,906 77,184,772 82,101,566
Miramar 86,258,779 83,111,413 89,369,910

(i) Inthecaseof MonteBarreto, only a constant occupancy rate of 100%is shown under the increase of 5% as
projected occupancy is already above or equal to 95%.

The following table details the fair values of the equity investments at 31 December 2019 when applying lower and
higher occupancy rates:

Financial
statements -5% +5%
uss uss ussS
Monte Barreto 86,702,576 82,279,267 91,123,299
Miramar 127,887,983 121,797,791 133,978,176

(i) InthecaseofMonteBarreto,only a constant occupancy rate of 100%is shown under the increase of 5% as
projected occupancy is already above or equal to 95%.
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Sensitivity to changes in the discount and capitalisation rates

The following tables detail the changeinfairvalues of the equity investments, which have been estimated under
the discounted cash flow method, when applying bothdiscount and capitalisationrates between 1% lowerand 1%
higher than the rates used in these interim condensed consolidated financial statements.

The following table details the fair values of the equity investments at 30 June 2020 when applying lower and
higher discount and capitalization rates:

Financial
statements -1% +1%
uss uss uss
Monte Barreto 81,258,906 91,548,664 73,310,573
Miramar 86,258,779 93,405,723 80,214,743

The following table details the fair values of the equity investments at 31 December 2019 when applying lower and
higher discount and capitalization rates:

Financial
statements -1% +1%
uss ussS ussS
Monte Barreto 86,702,576 98,365,774 77,753,412
Miramar 127,887,983 139,993,689 117,974,292

Sensitivity to changesin the estimation of Excess Cash

The fair values of the equity investments have been estimated using the discounted cash flow method and
adjusted for the Excess Cash held by the joint venture companies. Within the calculation of Excess Cash, itis
estimated thatthejoint ventures will maintain a sufficient cash balance for working capital purposes equal to the
equivalent of two months operating expenses.

The following table details the changes in fairvalues of the equity investments at 30 June 2020 if the number of

months of operating expenses used inthe calculation isincreased by an additional 1 to 3 monthsincomparison to
the calculation used in these interim condensed consolidated financial statements.

Financial
statements + 1 month +2 months + 3 months
uss ussS uss uss
Monte Barreto 81,258,906 81,020,684 80,782,463 80,554,241
Miramar 86,258,779 84,178,854 82,098,929 80,019,004

The following table details the changes in fair values of the equity investments at 31 December 2019 ifthe number
of months of operating expenses used inthe calculationisincreased by an additional 1 to 3 monthsin comparison
to the calculation used in these interim condensed consolidated financial statements.

Financial
statements +1 month +2 months + 3 months
uss uss uss uss
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Monte Barreto 86,702,576 86,464,354 86,226,132 85,987,911

Miramar 127,887,983 125,617,753 123,347,522 121,077,292

Areductionin the number of months of operating expenses usedin the calculationwould increase the changes in

fair values of the equity investments at 30 June 2020and 31 December 2019, however thisis considered unlikely
and therefore the related sensitivities have not been shown.

TosCuba

At 30June 2020 the Group owned an 80% interestin Mosaico B.V., which inturn had an indirect 50% share equity
interestin TosCubaS.A.,a Cubanjointventure companythatis developinga 400room 4-star hotel at Playa Maria
Aguilar near thecityof Trinidad, Cuba. Construction of the hotel began in December 2018 and is expected to be
completed by theend of 2021. The Group has made capital contributions of US$8,000,000 (31 December 2019:
USS$8,000,000).

In2019, TosCuba was awarded USS10,000,000 under the Spanish Cuban Debt Conversion Programme, a Spanish-
Cuba initiativeaimed at promoting Spanish private sector investments in Cuba under which outstanding bilateral
debts owed to Spain by Cuba may be settledthrough awards granted to investment projects in Cuba from a s pecial
countervalue fundcreated for this purpose. Under these awards, local currencyinvoices relating to services and
materials received in Cubain the course of constructing the projects will be paid from the countervalue fund on
behalf of thejointventures. As of 30June 2020, TosCuba has received the total cash grants under the programme
intheamountof US$10,000,000. The 50% interest of the Group in amounts received under the programme by
TosCuba (i.e. US$5,000,000) has been recorded as a change in the fair value in the investment in TosCuba.

Dividend income from equity investments

Dividend income from the equity investments above during the period is as follows:

6 months 6 months

30Jun 2020 30Jun 2019

uss uss

MonteBarreto 573,963 3,417,591

Miramar 6,310,596 9,037,327

6,884,559 12,454,918

Accounts payable and accrued expenses

30Jun2020 31 Dec2019
uss uss
Dueto shareholders 5,421 5,399
Dueto Melia Hotels International SA 178,862 354,581
Accrued professional fees 136,609 586,981
Managementfees payable (seenote 12) 1,669,446 1,041,950
Accrued Directors fees 32,377 1,617
Other accrued expenses 169,430 57,116
Other accounts payable 18,405 18,569

2,210,550 2,066,213
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The future maturity profile of accounts payable and accrued expenses based on contractual undiscounted
payments:

30Jun2020 31Dec2019

uss uss

Upto 30days 272,951 409,709
Between 31 and 90 days (2,586) 1,115,552
Between 91 and 180days 1,859,939 535,553
Between 181 and 365 days 80,246 5,399
2,210,550 2,066,213

Net assetvalue

Net asset value
The net assetvalueattributable to the shareholders of the Group (“NAV”) is calculated as follows:

30Jun 2020 31 Dec2019

uss uss

Total assets 218,543,082 262,015,519
Total liabilities (7,095,610) (5,899,546)
Less:non-controlling interests (33,948,936) (49,381,639)
NAV 177,498,536 206,734,334
Number of ordinary shares issued 137,671,576 137,671,576
NAV per share 1.29 1.50

Reportable operatingsegments

IFRS 8 requires the Group to report on where primarybusiness activities are engaged and where the Group earns
revenue, incurs expenses and where operating results are reviewed by chief operating decision maker about
resources allocated to the segmentand assessits performance and for which discrete financial information is
available. The primary segment reporting format of the Group is determined to be business segments as the
Group’s business segments are distinguishable by distinct financialinformation provided to and reviewed by the
chief operating decision maker in allocating resources arising from the products or services engaged by the Group.
No geographical information is reported since all investment activities are located in Cuba. The operating
businesses are organised and managed separatelythrough different companies. For management purposes, the
Group is currently organised into three business segments:

e Commercial property: Activities concerning the Group’s interests incommercial real estate investmentsin

Cuba.

e Tourism/Leisure: Activities concerningthe Group’s interests in hotel investments in Cuba and operations
of a travel agency that provides services to international clients for travel to Cuba.

e Other:Includesinterestfromloans and lending facilities, the Group entered into a construction finance
agreement with TosCuba for the purpose of extending to TosCuba part of the funding necessary for the
construction of the Melia Trinidad Peninsula Hotel andalso includes a facility provided to FINTUR (see
note 6 for further details).

Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making decisions
aboutresourceallocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on operating
incomeor lossandis measured consistently withoperatingincome or loss in the interim condensed consolidated
financial statements. The Board has applied judgements by aggregating its operating segments according to the
nature of the underlying investments. Suchjudgment considers the nature of operations, types of customers and
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an expectation that operating segments within a reportable segment have similar long-term economic

characteristics.

Total assets
Total liabilities

Total net assets

Dividend income

Otherincome

Change in fair value of equity investments
Allocated expenses

Foreign exchange gain

Net income/(loss)

Other comprehensive loss

Total comprehensive income/(loss)

Total assets
Total liabilities

Total net assets

Dividend income

Otherincome

Change in fair value of equity investments
Allocated expenses

Foreign exchange gain

Net income/(loss)

Other comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income

30June 2020

uss$

Commercial Tourism / Other Total
property Leisure
84,719,775 107,853,494 25,969,813 218,543,082
(2,364,949) (4,730,661), (7,095,610)
82,354,826 103,122,833 25,969,813 211,447,472
573,963 6,310,596 - 6,884,559
- 704,287 608 704,895
(5,443,670) (41,436,282) - (46,879,952)
(293,790) (1,947,452) (114) (2,241,356)
- - (394,798) (394,798)
(5,163,497) (36,368,851) (394,304) (41,926,652)
- 334,802 334,802
(5,163,497) (36,034,049) (394,304) (41,591,850)
31 December 2019

uss$

Commercial Tourism / Other Total
property Leisure
91,969,762 149,273,530 20,772,227 262,015,519
(2,345,827) (3,553,719) - (5,899,546)
89,623,935 145,719,811 20,772,227 256,115,973
6 months ended 30 June 2019

uss$
3,417,591 9,037,327 - 12,454,918
- 7,321 322,147 329,468
(438,676) (18,727,468) - (19,166,144)
(783,496) (1,515,151) (41,100) (2,339,747)
- - (283,319) (283,319)
2,195,419 (11,197,971) (2,272) (9,004,824)
- (725,749) - (725,749)
2,195,419 (11,923,720) (2,272) (9,730,573)
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Related parties disclosures

Compensation of Directors

Each Directorreceives a fee of £35,000 (US$43,257) per annum with the Chairman receiving £40,000 (USS49,436).
The Chairman of the Audit Committee also receives an annual fee of £40,000 (US$49,436). The Chairman and
Directorsarealso reimbursed for other expenses properly incurred by them in attending meetings and other
business of the Group. No other compensation or post-employment benefits are provided to Directors. Total
Director fees, including the fees of the Chairman, for the period ended 30 June 2020 were US$112,846 (30 June
2019: USS 124,200).

Transactions with other related parties
Transactions and balances between the Group and the joint venture companies included within the equity
investments of the Group are detailed in notes 5,6, 7,8 and 9.

CPCand GrandSlam Limited, wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Group, lease office space totalling 319 square
meters from Monte Barreto,a commercial property investment in which the Group holds a 49% interest. The
rental charges paid underthe GrandSlam leaseis accounted for inoperational costs and for the period ended 30
June 2020 amounted to US$10,259 (30 June 2019: USS12,099) with an average rental charge per square meter at
30June2020 of US$37.67 (30 June 2019: US$37.67) plus an administration fee of USS$9.75 per square meter.
GrandSlam Limited received a 50% discount on the rental charges in May and June 2020 due to Covid 19.

Transactions with Investment Manager

From 2019, Aberdeen Standard Fund Managers Limited (“ASFML”) reimburses CPC for its lease payments. (See
note 14)

Under the terms of the Management Agreement, ASFMLis entitled, with effect from 1 November 2018, to receive
an annual managementfee equivalentto 1.5 per cent. of netassetvalue. Theannual management fee payable by
the Group to ASFMLwill be loweredby the (annual) running costs of the Havana operations of CEIBA Property
CorporationLimited, a subsidiary of the Group. The management fees earned by the Investment Manager for the
period ended 30 June 2020 were US$1,510,822 (30 June 2019: USS$S1,512,149). In connection with the
Management Agreement, ASFML paidthe Group USS$5,000,000 with the purpose of compensating the Group for
the costs related to theinitial publicoffering and the listing of its shares on the Specialist Fund Segment as well as
for releasing and making available the Group’s internal management team to ASFML. In the event that the
Management Agreementis terminated priorto thefifth anniversary of its coming into effect, the Group must pay
ASFML a prorated amount of the US$5,000,000 based on the amount of time remainingin thefiveyear period. As
such, this payment has been recordedas a deferred liability and is being amortised over the five year period. The
amount amortised each period is accounted for as a reduction of the management fee. At 30 June 2020, the
amountof the paymentrecorded as a deferred liability is US$ 3,333,333 (31 December 2019 USS$3,833,333): with
USS$1,000,000 being the current portion and US$2,333,333 (31 December 2019 USS2,833,333) being the non-
current portion ASFML is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Standard Life Aberdeen plc which has aninterestin
9,747,852 shares of the stated capital (31 December 2019:9,747,852).

For the period ended 30 June 2020, the amount of the payment amortised and recorded as a reduction of the
management fee was US$500,000 (30 June 2019: US$500,000):

30Jun 2020 30Jun 2019

uss uss

Managementfees earned 1,510,822 1,512,149
Amortisation of deferred liability (500,000) (500,000)
Management fee expense 1,010,822 1,012,149

Interests of Directors and Executives in the stated capital
At 30 June 2020 John Herring, a Director of CEIBA, had anindirectinterest of 40,000 shares (31 December 2019:

40,000 shares).
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At 30 June 2020 Peter Cornell, a Director of CEIBA, had anindirectinterest of 100,000 shares (31 December 2019:
100,000 shares).

At 30June 2020 Trevor Bowen a Director of CEIBA, had an indirectinterest of 43,600 shares (31 December 2019:
43,600 shares).

At 30 June 2020 Colin Kingsnorth, a Director of the CEIBA, was a directorandshareholder of Laxey Partners Li mited
(“Laxey”). Laxey holds 23,736,481 shares (31 December 2019: 23,736,481 shares). Funds managed by Laxey hold
7,242,835 shares (31 December 2019: 7,242,835 shares).

At 30June 2020 SebastiaanA.C. Berger, Portfolio manager and Chief Executive Officer of CEIBA, had an interest of
3,273,081 shares (31 December 2019: 3,273,081 shares).

At 30 June 2020 CameronYoung, Chief Operating Officer of CEIBA, hadan indirectinterest of 4,129,672 shares (31
December 2019: 4,129,672 shares).

At 30June 2020 Paul S. Austin, Chief Financial Officer of CEIBA, had an interest of 144,000 shares (31 December
2019:144,000).
Basic and diluted earnings (loss) pershare

The earnings (loss) per share has been calculated on a weighted-average basis and is derived by dividing the net
income for the period attributable to shareholders by the weighted-average number of shares in issue.

6 Months 6 Months

30Jun2020 30Jun2019

uss uss

Weighted average of ordinary shares inissue 137,671,576 137,671,576
Net loss forthe period attributable to the shareholders (29,453,418) (5,137,375)
Basicand diluted loss pershare (0.21) (0.04)

Commitments and contingencies

Lease commitments

The Group has operating leases for office buildingspace. These have a contractual life of one year with mutual
acceptance required through issuing a notice of extension inorder for lease renewal to be undertaken annually.
Therearenorestrictions placed upon the lessee by entering into these leases. The annual lease payments of
GrandSlamin place at 30 June 2020 were US$24,500 (30 June 2019: USS$24,500).

The rental charges paid under the GrandSlam lease is accounted for in operational costs and for the period ended
30 June 2020 amounted to US$10,259 (30 June 2019: US$12,099).

TosCuba Construction Facility

In April 2018, the Group entered into the TosCuba Construction Facility for the purpose of extending to TosCuba
partofthefunding necessary forthe construction of the Melia Trinidad Peninsula Hotel. The Construction Facility
is in the maximum principal amount of US$45,000,000, divided intotwo separate tranches of US$22,500,000 each,
USS$S13,614,722 (31 December 2019: US$9,915,549) of which has been advanced asat30June 2020. The Group has

the right to syndicate Tranche B of the Construction Facility to other lenders (see note 6).

FINTUR Facility

Since2002,the Company has arranged and participated in numerous secured finance facilities extended to
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FINTUR, the Cuban government financial institution for Cuba’s tourism sector. These facilities act as a medium-
term investment and treasury management tool for the Group.

The facilities arefully secured by offshore tourism proceeds from numerous internationally managed hotels.

The Group has a successful 19-yeartrack record of arrangingand participatingin over €150,000,000 of facilities
extended to FINTUR, with no defaults occurring during this period.

The Company has a €4,000,000 participationin Tranche Aas well as a€2,000,000 participation inTranche B of the
most recent facility executed inMarch2016andamended in2019. The total four-year facility isa €36 million with
an 8 per cent.interestrate. Thefacility was operating successfully without delay or defaultin March 2020, at
which time all Cuban hotels were ordered to be closed as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic. The Company
subsequently granted a further grace period to FINTUR and consolidated allamounts outstanding under the two
existingtranchesinto a new Tranche C. As at30June 2020, the principal amount of €1,750,000 (US$1,989,792)
was outstanding under the Company’s participation in Tranche C of the facility

Financial risk management

Introduction

The Group is exposed to financial risks that are managedthrough a process of identification, measurement and
monitoringandsubject to risk limits and other controls. The objective of the Group is, consequently, to achieve an
appropriate balance between risk and benefits, andto minimise potential adverse effects arising fromits financial
activity.

The mainrisks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are market risk, credit risk and liquidity risks.
Management reviews policies for managingeachof theserisks and they are summarised below. These policies
have remained unchanged since the beginning of the period to which these interim condensed consolidated
financial statements relate.

Market risk

Marketriskis therisk thatthefairvalue of future cash flows of financialinstruments will fluctuate due to changes
in marketvariables. Market price risk comprises two types of risks: foreigncurrencyrisk and interestrate risk. The
Group is not materially exposed to market price risk.

(i) Foreign currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument denominated in a currency other than the
functional currency will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates.

The statement of comprehensive income and the net value of assets can be affected by currency translation
movements as certain assets and income are denominated in currencies other than USS.

Management has identified the following three main areas of foreign currency risk:

e Movements in rates affecting the value of loans and advances denominated in Euros;

e Movements in rates affecting the value of cash and cash equivalents denominated in Euros; and
e Movements inrates affecting anyinterestincome received fromloans and advances denominated in Euros.

Financial risk management (continued)
Market price risk (continued)
(i) Foreign currency risk (continued)

The sensitivity of the income (loss) to a variation of the exchange rate (EUR/USS) in relation to Euro
denominated assets is the following:



15.

CEIBA Investments Limited

(ii) Interestraterisk

Effect of the variation in

the foreign exchangerate

Income (loss)

Income (loss)

% 30Jun 2020 30Jun 2019
uss$ uss$

+15 1,368,760 2,461,484
+20 1,825,014 3,281,979
-15 (1,368,760) (2,461,484)
20 (1,825,014) (3,281,979)

Interestrateriskistherisk thatthe fairvalue of future cash flows mayfluctuate due to changesin market interest

rates.

At anytimethatitis notfully invested in equities, surplus funds may be invested in fixed-rate and floating-rate
securities both inEuro andin currencies other thanEuro. Althoughtheseare generally short-term in nature, any
changetotheinterestrates relevant for particularsecurities may resultin eitherincomeincreasing or decreasing,
or managementbeing unable to secure similar returns on the expiry of contracts or the sale of securities. In
addition, changes to prevailing rates or changes in expectations of future rates may resultin anincrease or
decreasein thevalueof securities held. In general, if interest rates rise, income potential also rises but the value of
fixed rate securities may decline. Adeclinein interest rates will in general have the opposite effect.

The only interest-bearing financial instruments held by the Group are fixed rate assets measured at amortised
cost, the Group has no material interest rate risk and therefore no sensitivity analysis has been presented.

The interest rate risk profile of the Group's consolidated financial assets was as follows:

30 June 2020

Equity investments (USS)

Loans and lending facilities (€)
Loans and lending facilities (USS)

Accounts receivable and accrued income (USS)
Accounts receivable and accrued income (€)
Cash at bank (€)

Cash at bank (USS)

Cash at bank (GBP)

Cash on hand (€)

Cash on hand (USS)

Cash on hand (CUC)

Financial risk management (continued)

Market price risk (continued)

(ii) Interest rate risk (continued)

31 December 2019
Equity investments (USS)

Fixed Non-interest

Total rate bearing

uss uss uss
180,517,685 - 180,517,685
3,589,116 3,589,116 -
13,614,722 13,614,722 -
10,552,525 - 10,552,525
113,099 - 113,099
7,691,045 - 7,691,045
264,750 - 264,750
1,643,227 - 1,643,227
680 - 680

661 - 661

4,952 - 4,952

Fixed Non-interest

Total rate bearing

uss$ uss$ uss
227,340,559 - 227,340,559
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Loans and lending facilities (€)

Loans and lending facilities (USS)

Accounts receivable and accrued income (USS)
Accounts receivable and accrued income (€)
Cash at bank (€)

Cash atbank (USS)

Cash at bank (GBP)

Cash on hand (€)

Cash on hand (USS)

Cash on hand (CUC)

Credit risk

3,230,171
9,915,549
7,736,695
121,621
11,230,891
1,191,898
663,606
996

1,724
13,463

3,230,171
9,915,549

7,736,695
121,621
11,230,891
1,191,898
663,606
996

1,724
13,463

Creditriskistheriskthatone party to a financial instrument will cause a financial | oss for the other party by failing
to discharge an obligation, expected credit| osses are measured using probability of default, exposure at default
and loss given default. Management consider both historical analysis and forward looking information in
determining an expected credit|oss. Refer to note 6 for the assessment expected credit|oss for loans and lending

facilities.

Maximum exposure to credit risk

The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk for eachcomponent of the consolidated statement of
financial position as well as future loan commitments, irrespective of guarantees received:

30Jun2020 31 Dec2019

uss$ uss

Loans andlending facilities 17,203,838 13,145,720
Futureloancommitments (TosCuba Construction Facility) (i) 26,885,278 30,584,451
Accounts receivableand accrued income 10,665,624 2,142,673
Cash and cash equivalents 9,605,315 13,102,578
Total maximum exposureto credit risk 64,360,055 58,975,422
(i) The TosCuba Construction Facility is secured by future income of the hotel under construction and

50% of the principal constructionamountis further secured by a guarantee given by Cubanacan S.A,
Corporaciénde Turismoy Comerciolnternacional, the Cubanshareholder of TosCuba S.A, backed by

income from another hotel in Cuba.

The Group holdsits cashandcash equivalents at financial i nstitutions located in the countries listed bel ow. Also
included in thefollowingtable are the credit ratings of the corresponding financial institutions, as determined by

Moody’s:
Credit
Rating
Cash at bank
Cuba Caa2
Guernsey A2
Spain Ba3
Spain A2
Spain Baa2

Cash on hand
Spain

30Jun 2020 31Dec2019
uss uss$
263,392 1,083,763
1,727,723 725,110
4,495,109 2,678,694
18,873 18,913
3,093,925 8,579,915
9,599,022 13,086,395

- 100
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Cuba 6,293 16,083
6,293 16,183
Total cash and cash equivalents 9,605,315 13,102,578

At 30June2020and31 December 2019, all cashandshort-term deposits thatare heldwith counter-parties have
been assessed for probability of default,asaresultnoloss allowance has been recognised based on 12-month
expected credit losses as any such impairment would be wholly insignificant to the Group.

Guarantees received

The amountand type of guarantees required depends on anassessment of the credit risk of the counter-party. The
Group has neither financial nornon-financial assets obtained as property on executed guarantees. See note 6
regarding guarantees obtained for loans and lending facilities.

Liquidity risk

Liquidityriskistherisk thatthe Groupwill encounter inrealising its non-cash assets or otherwise raising funds to
meet financial commitments. Assets principally consist of unlisted securities and loans, which are not readily
realisable. If the Group, for whatever reason, wishedto dispose of these assets quickly, the realisation values may
be lower than those at which therelevant assets are held inthe consolidated statement of financial position. (For
maturities of financial assets and liabilities refer to note 5,6, 7 and 9).

Although the Group has a number of liabilities (see note 9 - Accounts payable and accrued expenses, note 7 short
term financing and note 14 commitments and contingencies), Management assesses the liquidity risk of the Group

to below becausethe Group has a sufficientamount of cashandcash equivalents and has sufficient cash inflows
from dividend income to meet current liabilities.

The Group also has entered into the Construction Facility for the purpose of extending to TosCuba part of the
funding necessary forthe construction of the Melia Trinidad Playa Hotel (see note 6). The Construction Facility isin
the maximum principal amount of US$45,000,000 of whichUS$17,018,406 (31 December 2019: US$10,928,702)
was disbursed asat30June 2020 of which the participation of the Group was US$13,614,722 (31 December 2019:
USS$9,915,549). Itis assumedthatthe principal amount will be required to be disbursed under the Construction
Facility by the Companywill be approximately US$40,500,000. The Group has the right to syndicate Tranche B of
the Construction Facility to other Ienders.

The principal of the Construction Facility is to be disbursed on a monthlybasis on the percentage of construction
completed in each preceding month. It is anticipated that the full amount of the Construction Facility will be
disbursedbytheend of 2021. The Group currentlydoes not have sufficient cashand cash equivalents to cover the
full disbursement of the Construction Facility. Therefore, the disbursement of the Construction Facility will be
financed inpart by the future operating income of the Group. If future operatingincomeis notsufficient to allow
for the disbursement of the Construction Facility, the Group may syndicate a portion of the facility to other lenders
or seek short-term financing to cover any shortfall.

The estimated timing of future ash outflows under the TosCuba Construction Facility are as follows:

30Jun 2020 31 Dec2019

uss ussS

Between 31 and 90 days 1,829,678 1,151,827
Between 91 and 180days 4,500,000 1,317,800
Between 181 and 1year 17,555,600 2,400,000
Between 1and11/2years 3,000,000 25,714,823
26,885,278 30,584,450

Fair value disclosures
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Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Determining fair values

The determination of fairvalues for investment and financial assets andliabilities for which thereis no observable
market pricerequires the use of valuation techniques.For financial instruments that trade infrequently and have
little price transparency, fair value is less objective, and requires varying degrees of judgement depending on
liquidity, concentration, uncertainty of market factors, pricingassumptions and other risks affecting the specific
instrument.

Our valuationhas been prepared in a period of significant marketinstability as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic.
The impact on the Cuban tourism sector has been dramaticwithalmost no international tourist arriving for the
pastfew months, andthe Cuban economy in general is certainly suffering as a result. As itis not possible to
ascertainwith any certainty when the tourismsector and the economy will recover to anywhere near previous
levels , thereis a high degree of uncertainty as to the valuation of the subject property.

When valuing a hotel, the level of uncertainty attached to an opinionof valueis directly related to the projections
ofincomeand expense. We have diligently prepared our projections of income and expense and consider that
they arereasonable when compared to other hotelsinthe marketplace. In that regard, we consider the level of
uncertainty attached to our opinion of value to be low.

The Group measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchythatreflects the significance of the inputs
used in making the measurements:

e Level 1: Quoted price (unadjusted) in an active market for an identical instrument.

e level 2: Valuationtechnigues based on observable inputs, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e.
derived from prices). This categoryincludesinstruments valued using: quoted prices in active markets for
similar instruments; quoted prices foridentical or similarinstruments inmarkets that areconsidered lessthan
active; or other valuationtechniques for which all significantinputs are directly or indirectly observable from
market data.

e Level 3: Valuationtechniques using significant unobservable inputs. This category includes all instruments for
which thevaluationtechniqueincludes inputs not based on observable data and the unobservable inputs have
a significant effect on theinstrument’s valuation. This categoryincludes instruments thatarevalued based on
qguoted prices for similarinstruments for which significant unobservable adjustments or assumptions are
required to reflect differences between the instruments.

Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities that are traded inactive markets are based on quoted prices
or dealer price quotations. The Group does not currently have any financial assets or financial liabilities trading in
active markets.

For all other financial instruments, the Group determines fair values using valuation techniques. Valuation
techniquesinclude net presentvalue anddiscounted cash flow models, comparison to similar instruments for
which market observable prices exist and other valuation models. Assumptions and inputs used in valuation
techniquesincluderisk-freeand benchmark interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates. The objective of
valuationtechniquesisto arriveata fairvalue determinationthatreflects the price of thefinancial instrument at
the reporting date that would have been determined by market participants acting atarm’s length.

For certain instruments, the Group uses proprietary valuation models, which usually are developed from
recognisedvaluation models. Some or all of the significantinputs into these models may notbe observable in the
market, and are derived from market prices or rates or are estimated based on assumptions. Examples of
instruments involving significant unobservable inputs include the equity investments of the Group in Cuban joint
venture companies. Valuationmodels that employ significant unobservable inputs require a higher degree of
management judgement and estimation in the determination of fair value. Management judgement and
estimationareusually required for selection of the appropriate valuati on model to be used, determination of
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expected future cash flows on the financial instrument being valued, selection of appropriate discount rates and
an estimate of theamount of cashrequired for working capital needs of thejoint venturesin order to determine if

they hold any Excess Cash.

The table below analyses financial instruments measured atfair value at the end of the reporting period by the

level in the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurementis categorised:

30 June 2020

uss
Levell Level2 Level3 Total
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
Equity investments - - 180,517,685 180,517,685
- - 180,517,685 180,517,685
31 December 2019
uss
Levell Level2 Level3 Total
Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss
Equity investments 227,340,559 227,340,559
227,340,559 227,340,559

The following table shows a reconciliation from the beginning balances to the ending balances for fair value

measurementsinLevel 3 of thefairvalue hierarchy:

30Jun 2020 31 Dec2019
Unlisted private equity investments uss ussS
Initialbalance 227,340,559 238,795,681
Total losses recognised inincome or loss (46,879,952) (14,658,562)
Foreign currencytranslationreserve 57,078 3,203,440
Acquisitions and capital contributions - -
Final balance 180,517,685 227,340,559
Total losses forthe year/periodincluded in
income or loss relating to assets and liabilities
held atthe end of the reporting year/period (46,879,952) (14,658,562)
(46,879,952) (14,658,562)

Classifications of financial assets and liabilities

The table below provides a reconciliation of the line items in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial

position to the categories of financial instruments.
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30 June 2020

uss
Cash and
Financial Financial

Fair value assets at liabilities at Total

through amortised amortised carrying

Note profit or loss cost cost amount

Cash and cash equivalents 4 - 9,605,315 - 9,605,315
Accounts receivableand

accrued income 5 - 10,665,624 - 10,665,624

Loans andlending facilities 6 - 17,203,838 - 17,203,838

Equity investments 8 180,517,685 - - 180,517,685

180,517,685 37,474,777 - 217,992,462

Accounts payable 9 - - 2,210,550 2,210,550

Short-term borrowings 7 - - 1,551,727 1,551,727

- - 3,762,277 3,762,277

31 December 2019
uss
Cash and
Financial Financial

Fair value assets at liabilities at Total

through amortised amortised carrying

Note profit or loss cost cost amount

Cashand cash equivalents 4 - 13,102,578 - 13,102,578
Accounts receivableand

accrued income 5 - 7,858,316 - 7,858,316

Loans andlending facilities 6 - 13,145,720 - 13,145,720

Equity investments 8 227,340,559 - - 227,340,559

227,340,559 34,106,614 - 261,447,173

Accounts payable 9 - - 2,066,213 2,066,213

- - 2,066,213 2,066,213

There were no reclassifications of financial assets during the sixmonth periodfor 30June 2020 (31 December

2019:nil).

Dividend per share

Dividends per shareare calculated by dividingthe dividends paid by the number of shares in issue on the dividend
record date.There have been no dividenddeclarationsin 2020.

Events after the reporting period
There were no significant events after thereporting period.

ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE MEASURES

Alternative performance measures are numerical measures of the Company’s current, historical or future
performance, financial position or cash flows, other than financial measures defined or specified inthe applicable
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financial framework. The Directors assess the Company’s performance against a range of criteria which are viewed
as particularly relevant for closed-end investment companies.

NAYV Per Share

The net assetvalue (‘NAV’) is the value of theinvestment company’s assets, |ess any liabilities it has. The NAV per
shareis the NAV divided by the number of shares in issue.

The NAV per share was US$1.29 / 104.3p as at 30 June 2020.
NAV Total Return

NAV total return involves investing any dividends paid by the Company back into the NAV of the Company on the
date on which that share price was declared ex-dividend.

The table below provides information relating to the NAV of the Company on the dividend reinvestment dates
during the period ended 30 June 2020 and 30 June 2019.

NAV at31 December 2019 206,734,334
Net comprehensive income for the period* (29,235,798)
IFRSNAV30June 2020 177,498,536
Non-IFRS adjustment 3,333,333

Non-IFRS NAV at30June 2020 180,831,869

! Net comprehensiveincome for the period includes a netloss on changes in the fair value of equity investments of
(USS 46,879,952).
Premium (Discount) to NAV

As at30June 2020, theshare price was 64.5p /USS0.80and the net asset value per sharewas 104.3p / USS$1.29,
the discount was therefore (38.2%).

For further information, please contact:

Aberdeen Standard Fund Managers Limited Tel:+44 (0)20 7463 6000
Sebastiaan Berger / EvanBruce-Gardyne / Christian Pittard

N+1 Singer Tel:+44 (0)20 7496 3000
James Maxwell / James Moat (Corporate Finance)
James Waterlow (Sales)

JTC Fund Solutions (Guernsey) Limited Tel:+44 (0) 1481 702400



